Mapping the Planetary Boundaries

Visualizing Human-Environment

Connections in the Anthropocene

by Riley McCullough

Submitted to OCAD University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Design in Strategic Foresight and Innovation

Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 2019

Copyright Notice

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 2.5 Canada (CC BY-NC-SA 2.5 CA)

You are free to:

Share — copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format **Adapt** — remix, transform, and build upon the material

Under the following terms:

Attribution — You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

NonCommercial — You may not use the material for commercial purposes.

ShareAlike — If you remix, transform, or build upon the material, you must distribute your contributions under the same license as the original.

No additional restrictions — You may not apply legal terms or technological measures that legally restrict others from doing anything the license permits.

Abstract

The Anthropocene marks the current period in which humanity is living beyond the means of planet Earth and threatening the stability of the climate and other environmental processes that have allowed us to thrive over the past 10,000 years. With increasing anthropogenic stress on the Earth System, the Planetary Boundaries framework aims to determine the thresholds that humanity must operate within to ensure that conditions on Earth remain favourable for human life. This project uses a systems approach to demonstrate the complexity of the Earth System by mapping the relationships between the nine boundaries identified in the Planetary Boundaries framework, as well as the role of anthropogenic actions on those boundaries. This project presents this information in the form of two interactive visualizations that the user can explore to understand the impacts of human activity on the natural environment and the interconnectedness and delicate balance of the Earth System.

Acknowledgments

The completion of this project would not have been possible without the knowledge, guidance, and support of a handful of individuals. To Michele, thank your guidance and feedback throughout this process. To Sam, Sean, Andrew, and Sara, thank you for being a sounding board and providing unwavering emotional support - this wasn't always happy work. To my SFI cohort and professors, thank you for being part of this journey over the past 16 months - you've changed the way I see the world.

This project was undertaken alongside an academic placement with Arup's Foresight, Research + Innovation team in which a portion of my work focused on the Planetary Boundaries as a research topic.



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	7	
1. Introduction	10	
Understanding the Earth System	11	
Purpose and Research Question	12	
Research Approach	14	
2. Introducing the Boundaries	18	
The Anthropocene	20	
The Planetary Boundaries	23	
Challenges with the Framework	26	
3. Understanding the Boundaries	32	
Climate Change	33	
Biosphere Integrity	35	
Land-System Change	37	
Biogeochemical Flows	39	
Atmospheric Aerosol Loading	41	
Stratospheric Ozone Depletion	43	
Ocean Acidification	45	
Freshwater Use	47	
Novel Entities	49	
4. Mapping the Boundaries		
Boundary Influences	53	
Boundary Interactions	59	
5. Discussion and Conclusion	68	
Discussion	69	
Challenges with the Process	71	
Areas for Future Exploration	73	
Conclusion	74	
References	78	
Appendices	94	

List of Tables and Figures

Tables

Table 1. Challenges, solution areas, and solution concept	14
Table 2. Boundary interactions	60

Figures

Figure 1. Temperature variations prior to and during the Holocene	20
Figure 2a. Societal growth during the Great Acceleration	21
Figure 2b. Environmental damage and pressure during the Great Acceleration	21
Figure 3. The planetary boundaries and their current status	24
Figure 4. Still image of the boundary influences visualization	58
Figure 5. Still image of the boundary interactions visualization	65



Executive Summary

According to some scientists, humanity has entered the Anthropocene, the geologic epoch starting in the Industrial Revolution in which humans are the main drivers of change to the functioning of the Earth System.¹ In 2009, Rockstrom et al. developed the Planetary Boundaries framework to understand the extent of human impact on Earth's key systems, and within what boundaries humanity would have to operate for Earth to remain a habitable and safe place for humans.²

Although the Planetary Boundaries framework focuses on natural and anthropogenic processes, the systems that underlie the Planetary Boundaries framework - both in the natural environment and in the human dimension - are not highlighted in the current research. Furthermore, information on the planetary boundaries and the anthropogenic actions driving their degradation are not presented in a format that is oriented to those outside the academic communities. While the Planetary Boundaries framework has been used widely within the scientific community, there have been limited opportunities for public engagement. To explore these concepts, this project sets out to answer the research question: How might we represent the relationships between anthropogenic forces and planetary boundaries to better understand the complexity of the Earth System?

Part 1 of the report introduces the topic area and the research process for the project. Part 2 describes the Planetary Boundary framework and outlines its importance in the Anthropocene. Part 3 aggregates detailed information for each boundary, presenting it in a way that demonstrates the cause and effect of human impact and environmental degradation. Part 4 introduces the outputs of this report - two interactive visualizations that demonstrate the complexity of the Earth System. Finally, Part 5 of this report discusses insights that users can gain from the visualizations as well as outlines challenges with the approach taken, offering suggestions for future work.



Introduction



Understanding the Earth System

For the past 10,000 years, the Earth has operated in a relatively balanced state with a stable climate and other environmental conditions that have allowed humanity to thrive. This period, known as the Holocene, constitutes a narrow portion of the Earth's history, with 4.5 billion years of natural history leading to these conditions. Since the start of the Industrial Revolution in the 1800s, human activities have been threatening the stable Holocene-like conditions and pushing the Earth into the Anthropocene, the geologic epoch in which human actions are the dominant forces of change on Earth. In recent years, these changes have had increasingly severe impacts on humanity; hurricanes and tropical storms are increasing in intensity, water shortages are becoming more prevalent, and species extinction is on the rise.³ Many of these impacts are expected to worsen as human development continues to advance, further threatening the ability of the **Earth System** to sustain modern ways of life.⁴

In 2009, a group of scientists and the Stockholm Resilience Institute developed the concept of planetary boundaries, the environmental limits that must not be crossed for Earth to continue to support human life as it has done so throughout the Holocene. The Planetary Boundaries framework provides an understanding of the limited ability of the Earth System to support humanity's advancements and can be used as a starting point to determine which human activities are causing damage that most threatens the environment. Building on the Planetary Boundaries framework, this project uses a systems approach to demonstrate how specific human actions are influencing the natural environment and how environmental changes influence the broader Earth System. The project culminates with two visualizations that demonstrate the complexity of the interactions between and among human activities and Earth system processes.

The **Earth System** is defined as "the integrated biophysical and socio-economic processes and interactions (cycles) among the atmosphere, hydrosphere, cryosphere, biosphere, geosphere and anthroposphere (human enterprise) in both spatial - from local to global - and temporal scales, which determine the environmental state of the planet within its current position in the universe."⁵

Purpose and Research Question

In undertaking this research, I wanted to explore the relationship between human actions and environmental degradation, using the Planetary Boundaries framework as a lens. When working with the Planetary Boundaries framework previously, I identified several gaps in the existing research, including a lack of connection between anthropogenic actions and the boundaries, the impacts of degradation in each boundary, and the lack of public discourse surrounding the framework. I also found that the framework, does not explore the interactions between the boundaries.

As a framework intended to communicate the limits of earth's operating system, I wanted to examine how a systems approach to analyzing the planetary boundaries could provide opportunities to understand the complexity and interconnectedness of the human and environmental dimensions of the Earth System. I developed the following exploratory research question to guide this process:

How might we represent the relationships between anthropogenic forces and planetary boundaries to better understand the complexity of the Earth System?



Research Approach

Exploring

The project began with an exploration of the available literature on the planetary boundaries with an attempt to understand its current reach and any existing challenges presented in its structure and dissemination. This review led me to develop the following three challenge areas for the project:

- 1. Detailed information on the different boundaries, their drivers, and impacts are not readily available from a single source.
- 2. Information on the Planetary Boundaries framework is not designed for nonspecialist audiences.
- 3. The research is not presented in a way that demonstrates the interactions between the nine key systems of the Planetary Boundaries framework.

Defining

Next, solution areas were defined for each of these challenges. The three solution areas were used to develop the concept for the final output.

Challenge	Solution Area	Solution Concept
Challenge 1	Collect and combine relevant information on the planetary boundaries, their drivers, and their impacts in one comprehensive	
Challenge 2	document. Simplify the concepts and terminology used to describe the Planetary Boundaries framework. Develop a system that allows the reader to explore the boundaries and their details.	Create a visual map that allows users to explore the drivers and impacts of anthropogenic change within the Planetary Boundariess framework, ensuring that concepts are presented in a way that can be understood by
Challenge 3	Use a systems approach to the Planetary Boundaries framework, both at the framework level and at the individual boundary level to map the causality within each boundary and across boundaries.	non-specialist audiences.

Table 1: Challenges, Solution Areas, and Solution Concept.

Collecting

Research on each of the boundaries was collected from a variety of sources, including scholarly journals, reports, and publications from international agencies and non-governmental organizations.

Sorting

From the research collected, I used a process based on the ERAF (Entities - Relationships - Attributes - Flows) model⁶ to sort the different influential factors into categories based on the DPSIR (Drivers - Pressures - State - Impact - Response) model⁷. For this project, I took a modified approach to the DPSIR model and categorized elements as drivers, pressures, or boundaries, as defined below:

- **Drivers**, or anthropogenic drivers, are the human actions that are causing changes in the Earth System.
- **Pressures**, or environmental pressures, are the environmental conditions resulting from anthropogenic drivers.
- **Boundaries** are the nine planetary boundaries. The name of each boundary was used to demonstrate when conditions would degrade in that boundary.

Visualizing

After sorting the research, I mapped the information to represent the connections and interactions visually. The first visualization maps the interactions between the anthropogenic drivers, environmental pressures and boundaries. The second visualization shows the interactions between the nine planetary boundaries and is intended to be an overview of boundary interactions. Both visualizations were created in the systemsmapping program Kumu and were designed to be interactive.

Limitations

I encountered two main challenges with the design and implementation of the project that resulted in limitations to this work:

- 1. The structure of the Planetary Boundaries framework. The framework is designed to understand the critical limits of Earth's operating system but is not intended to be understood from the perspective of enacting change. Although the framework is an excellent resource for presenting the limits of the Earth System, it raises challenges when attempting to understand the complexity of the Earth System.
- 2. The research scope. This research project was limited to three months and therefore imposed strict limits on the scope of the project. While I initially proposed to incorporate increased levels of detail on Earth System functions and additional socio-economic influences in the Anthropocene, the time frame of this project limited its scope to a high-level assessment of the Planetary Boundaries framework and the causal influences underlying degradation in the Earth System. I have outlined my future intentions for building on this work in the Further Explorations section of this report.

Introducing the Boundaries





The Anthropocene

A number of scientists have proposed that the Earth has entered the Anthropocene, the geological epoch in which humans have become the "dominant driver of change in the Earth System"⁸ and have fundamentally altered the operating system of the Earth.⁹ Changes in the Earth's operations are not new; Earth's state has been continuously changing over the past 4.5 billion years. However, over the past 10,000 - 12,000 years, in a period termed the Holocene, Earth saw a relatively stable climate in which civilization, as we know it today, was able to emerge (Figure 1).

Humans have long relied on the natural environment for survival, often taking advantage of natural resources for processes like developing agriculture and building shelter. For centuries, throughout the Holocene, this was done within the Earth's biogeophysical limits. In the 1800s, the Industrial Revolution triggered the start of a significant increase in environmental degradation caused by human actions; populations have grown dramatically, agriculture and industrial activity have spread, and urbanization has resulted in cities covering more and more land. These activities, among others, marked the start of the Anthropocene and have had dramatic impacts on the biogeophysical systems of the Earth.¹⁰

In the 20th century, the environmental destruction brought about by the Anthropocene was further fueled by the Great Acceleration - the period after World War II in which the standards of living increased in most areas of the world. During this time, humanity



Figure 1. Temperature variations prior to and during the Holocene.¹⁴



Figure 2a (top). Societal growth during the Great Acceleration.¹⁵

Figure 2b (bottom). Environmental damage and pressure during the Great Acceleration.¹⁶

underwent dramatic changes in population growth, economic growth, and consumption, further degrading the environment and causing changes to the chemical composition of the Earth's atmosphere and oceans on a global level (Figures 2a and 2b). These changes have upset the balance of the Earth System and threaten humanity's ability to rely on Earth processes for elements that are vital to our well-being, such as fresh air and clean water.¹¹

Steffan et al. write that human activity may be pushing the planet on a trajectory in which reinforcing feedback loops lead to runaway changes in the Earth System that will be difficult or impossible for humanity to intervene in or stop.¹² The researchers refer to this state as "Hothouse Earth" and note that it would cause increased instability both within the Earth System and societal structures. They argue that this state will be triggered once Earth has reached two degrees of warming (Celsius) compared to preindustrial temperatures. The alternative, according to the authors, is a "Stabilized Earth" in which stewardship of the Earth System avoids runaway feedbacks in our climate and biosphere, resulting in more stable conditions on Earth. The authors write that in order to reach the "Stabilized Earth" position, humans must take "deliberate, integral, and adaptive steps to reduce dangerous impacts on the Earth System."¹³

The Planetary Boundaries

To better understand the limits of the Earth System and humanity's impact on it in the Anthropocene, Rockstrom et al. developed the Planetary Boundaries framework.¹⁷ With the knowledge that human pressure on the Earth System could lead to the destabilization of Earth's biophysical balance, Rockstrom et al. sought to answer the following question: "What are the non-negotiable planetary preconditions that humanity needs to respect in order to avoid the risk of deleterious or even catastrophic environmental change at continental to global scales?"¹⁸

In response, planetary boundaries in nine of the Earth's key systems were proposed. The boundaries are:

Climate Change Biosphere Integrity Land-System Change Biogeochemical Flow Atmospheric Aerosol Loading Stratospheric Ozone Depletion Ocean Acidification Freshwater Use Novel Entities

It is important to note that despite using terminology depicting strict thresholds, the Planetary Boundaries framework does not set a threshold based on Earth system tipping points, but instead uses a "zone of uncertainty" with the boundary set at the low end of that zone. Some of the nine key systems in the Planetary Boundaries framework, such as climate change, have well-researched tipping points, or thresholds, which, if crossed, would shift the system into a new, irreversible state. Others, such as land-system change, do not have known thresholds but can shift into a new state caused by repeated degradation. The boundaries for each key system are not set at these tipping points or thresholds, but rather are set conservatively below the thresholds (at the bottom end of the zone of uncertainty) in order to account for unknowns in science and to ensure that the thresholds are not crossed.

Boundaries that are operating within the zone of uncertainty are represented in yellow in Figure 3 and signify a heightened level of risk to the Earth System. Any level of change that occurs below this zone is considered to be within Earth's operating space and the



Figure 3. The Planetary Boundaries and their current status.²⁴

boundary and is represented in green in Figure 3. When changes surpass the boundaries, represented in red in Figure 3, there is a high risk of severe impacts.

In 2015, the framework was updated by Steffan et al. to reflect advancements in scientific knowledge, noting that four of the boundaries (climate change, biosphere integrity, biogeochemical flows, and land-system change) have already transgressed their boundaries or are operating within the zone of uncertainty.¹⁹ Two of the boundaries, novel entities and atmospheric aerosol loading, as well as the functional diversity aspect of biosphere integrity, do not have thresholds set due to limitations in the existing research and measurement capabilities on the subjects. Steffan et al.'s overview of the nine boundaries, their control variables, thresholds, areas of uncertainty, and current status can be found in Appendix A.

The Planetary Boundaries framework has been used widely across the scientific community, sometimes on behalf of governmental decision-makers. Sweden, Switzerland, the Netherlands, and the European Union have used the framework to assess their environmental performance,²⁰ and other research has used the framework to compare environmental sustainability across nations.²¹ Other researchers have also built on the concept of planetary boundaries to create new frameworks that use the boundaries to understand the links between planetary health, societal well-being, and economic growth.²² Of note is Kate Raworth's Doughnut model, which aims to understand how planetary boundaries and social conditions work with and against each other.²³



Challenges with the Framework

Several challenges with the Planetary Boundaries framework have been explored in the existing literature.²⁵ This project focuses on three main themes identified through a review of the literature and my previous work with the framework:

- 1. Detailed information on the different boundaries, their drivers, and impacts are not readily available from a single source.
- 2. Information on the Planetary Boundaries framework is not designed for nonspecialist audiences.
- **3.** The research is not presented in a way that demonstrates the interactions between the nine key systems of the Planetary Boundaries framework.

Other challenges with the Planetary Boundaries framework that were encountered during this project but not explored in-depth are also described in this section.



Detailed information on the different boundaries, their drivers, and impacts are not readily available from a single source.

The original documents on the Planetary Boundaries framework by Rockstrom et al. and Steffan et al. are limited to high-level information.²⁶ While they introduce all boundaries, they do not provide detailed information about the drivers or impacts for each. Currently, in order to find in-depth information about each boundary, or to begin to understand the network of drivers and impacts that influences it, one must consult multiple external academic sources.

Aggregating detailed information on all nine boundaries in one document is an essential first step to understanding the complexity that underlies the Planetary Boundaries framework.

Information on the Planetary Boundaries framework is not designed for nonspecialist audiences.

The Planetary Boundaries framework is primarily used within academic or scientific communities, and public communication of the framework is limited. While information about the framework has been disseminated through non-academic outlets such as news media, these sources often present high-level information about the boundaries, providing little opportunity for the reader to engage with the framework on a deeper level.²⁷ When the boundaries are explored in more depth, it is often in the form of an academic journal article or research report intended for the scientific or decision-making communities. In their work on the Planetary Boundaries framework, Meyer and Newman note that the framework is "not easily applied to personal or policy action,"²⁸ partly due to the complexity of the framework and the operations of the Earth System.

The information presented in the two original reports on the planetary boundaries is intended for scientific audiences or those with specialist knowledge about environmental sciences and Earth systems. Due to the complexity and depth of scientific knowledge available on these subjects, as well as the scientific rigour presented in most scholarly journals, the language and concepts used are often not designed to be easily understood by non-specialist audiences. This challenge exists across the scientific community and is increasing in severity; Plaven-Sigray et al. found a decline in the readability of science journals, with more than one-fifth of scientific abstracts having readability that would be

considered as beyond college graduate level English.²⁹ The use of increasingly complex scientific language is problematic when aiming to demonstrate scientific concepts to non-specialist audiences as "lower readability implies less accessibility, particularly for non-specialists, such as journalists, policy-makers, and the wider public."³⁰

Communicating environmental issues like climate change outside of the scientific community is challenging because the causes are mostly invisible, and the impacts lack temporal and geographic immediacy. There is also a disconnect between humans and the natural environment and a lack of adequate signals indicating a requirement for change. Finally, the complexity and uncertainty of the science can discourage potential audiences.³¹ Although some researchers argue that climate scientists have done an arguably good job at communicating their research, other areas of environmental concern fail to communicate their information successfully to a broader audience.³² Grainger et al. highlight the importance of the communication methods of scientific research, arguing that the poor communication of scientific concepts prevents comprehension of the concepts.³³ Engaging audiences on environmental issues is crucial because it can increase awareness and knowledge on a specific issue and influence behaviours, opinions, and policy.³⁴

Allowing a broader audience to engage with the Planetary Boundaries framework outside of the scientific and academic communities would allow for increased engagement with the concepts and could be a first step in leading to behaviour changes in individuals.

The research is not presented in a way that demonstrates the interactions between the nine key systems of the Planetary Boundaries framework.

Although Rocktrom et al. note that the nine boundaries are interconnected and that crossing the boundary for one may cause impacts in other boundaries, there is limited research demonstrating the interconnectivity of the different key systems of Earth.³⁵ Despite existing calls for understanding the Planetary Boundaries framework as a system and incorporating a more significant systemic analysis into the framework,³⁶ the current research is limited in this area.

Systems thinking can be particularly useful in navigating the complexity of a framework like the planetary boundaries as it allows the researcher or audience member to understand and capture the broader context and analyze the interdependencies with

the system or systems. Approaching environmental issues from a systems perspective is essential because systems thinking can help navigate the complexity of the interactions between human systems and the Earth System, as well as understand the implications and consequences of impacts within a system.³⁷ Lezak and Thibodeau argue that the denial of environmental science, namely climate change, is made possible by "the inherent complexity and scale of the global ecosystem,"³⁸ and argue for a systems approach to thinking about the natural world. The results of their research found that individuals who understand systems thinking are more likely to apply increased value to the natural environment.³⁹ These findings are further supported by Davis and Stroink's research that found that "systems thinking posses a stronger ecological worldview and sense of connectivity with nature, harbour biospheric environmental values, and engage in more pro-environmental behaviours than those scoring low on systems thinking."⁴⁰

While some existing research does take a systems approach to the Planetary Boundaries framework,⁴¹ it is limited by either the number of boundaries addressed or the area of concern; most of the research in this area is dedicated to computer modelling and simulations for further research and policy implications. While these Earth System Models (ESMs) are useful in communicating the scale of environmental change to scientists or specialists, they are generally not designed for use by non-specialists.⁴² Work by Meyer and Newman on a planetary accounting framework does provide some basic mapping of the interactions between the boundaries, based on the quotas presented in their work.⁴³ However, this information is not yet available outside of scholarly journals.

Displaying the interactions between the boundaries can lead to an understanding of the complexity of the Earth system as well as an understanding of what areas of action might be most influential or act as leverage points.

Other Challenges

The lack of differentiation of key systems across spatial scales.

The Planetary Boundaries framework generalizes the functioning of Earth's key systems at the global level. However, some of the drivers and impacts noted in the research about the boundaries occur at a local or regional level and are not persistent on a global scale. For example, some drivers and impacts vary in severity and presence in different areas around the world. For example, atmospheric aerosol loading in the form of air pollution occurs mostly at a local or regional scale, and the associated factors cannot be generalized on a global level. For this research, I did not attempt to differentiate local, regional, and global influences in order to manage the project's complexity.

The varying scales of impact across boundaries.

Nykvist et al. and Meyer and Newman⁴⁴ attempt to structure the boundaries across the different categories of action in the EEA's DPSIR framework.⁴⁵ They note several challenges as some boundaries function as a state of the environment (e.g. the amount of CO2 in the atmosphere), some function as pressures on existing environmental conditions (e.g. the amount of freshwater consumer), and one, biosphere integrity, is categorized as an impact of other boundaries (the rate of extinction).⁴⁶ The nonlinear categorization of the boundaries, and the variance in how each boundary acts within the environment presented challenges in the act of mapping the boundaries.

For example, the control variable for the climate change boundary is the atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide, which is considered an environmental state. This state can have impacts such as increased temperatures. In comparison, in the biosphere integrity boundary, increased temperatures would be seen as a pressure. To address this challenge, a rigid framework like DPSIR was not used to shape the boundary interactions. Instead, I used a modified approach of the DPSIR framework, as described in the Research Approach section of this report, categorizing the different elements as either drivers (human actions), pressures (environmental conditions), or as a boundary itself.

Understanding the Boundaries

The Planetary Boundaries framework highlights nine key Earth systems that are critical to sustaining human life on this planet. Each of these nine boundaries is introduced below and include information on the human activities that drive degradation and the associated impacts of degradation.



Climate Change

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) defines climate change as "a change in climate that is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and that is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods."⁴⁷ Climate change is recognized as one of the two core boundaries in the framework, meaning it "has the potential on its own to drive the Earth system into a new state should [it] be substantially and persistently transgressed."⁴⁸ The control variables for the climate change boundary are atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations and top-of-atmosphere radiative forcing. The boundary is currently operating within the zone of uncertainty and is expected to degrade further given current trends.⁴⁹

Drivers and Pressures

The emission of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, and other well-mixed gases. Carbon dioxide is emitted into the atmosphere through the burning of fossil fuels for electricity, transportation, manufacturing, construction, and the burning of biomass (such as forests). Methane is primarily emitted from agricultural activities, waste management, energy production and biomass burning. Nitrous oxide is a common byproduct of agriculture fertilizer use and fossil fuel combustion. Other well-mixed greenhouse gases are common byproducts of industrial processes, refrigeration and consumer products. The significant contributors to anthropogenic greenhouse gases on a global scale are energy use (primarily for electricity and heating, transportation, and manufacturing and construction), agriculture, industrial processes, waste processing and land-use change and forestry.⁵⁰

Changes that impact how much sun is absorbed or reflected by the Earth. Radiative forcing is defined as the difference between the amount of energy absorbed by Earth and the amount of energy radiated or reflected into space. When more energy is absorbed by the Earth than reflected, the Earth warms.⁵¹ Increases in radiative forcing can be caused by greenhouse gases, ozone and stratospheric water vapour, atmospheric aerosols, and land-use changes. While both greenhouse gases and stratospheric water vapour will increase radiative forcing, atmospheric aerosols and land-use changes have the potential to either increase or decrease radiative forcing dependent on their specific characteristics.⁵²

Impacts

An increase in the global temperature and more extreme temperatures. Between 1900 and 2016, the average temperature over the United States increased 1 degree Celsius. Over the past twenty years, the number of high-temperature records far exceeds the number of low temperature records.⁵³

Changes in precipitation patterns. For every one degree Celsius of warming, the air can hold approximately 7% more water. As the average global temperature rises, this increases the amount of water vapour in the atmosphere.⁵⁴

Increased rate of extreme weather events, including drought and storms. The disruption of the hydrological cycle reduces the amount of water in some places, which leads to droughts.⁵⁵ Warmer oceans are expected to increase hurricane strength and frequency,⁵⁶ and increased drought could lead to an increase in fire activity.⁵⁷

Melting of sea ice and other ice stores. In the last 40 years, the annual average Arctic sea ice has decreased between 3.5% and 4.1% per decade. Each year, the sea ice melts for at least an additional 15 days.⁵⁸

Sea level rise. Since 1900, the global mean sea level has risen 16-21 cm, with nearly a third of that happening since 1993. Sea level rise also has downstream impacts, including an increase in coastal flooding.⁵⁹

Increase in ocean temperatures and ocean acidification. Oceans have absorbed an estimated 93% of the excess heat caused by warming since the mid-20th century, increasing more than 0.4 degrees Fahrenheit.⁶⁰ They are also absorbing more than 25% of anthropogenic atmospheric CO2, causing an increase in acidity.⁶¹



The biosphere refers to all living organisms on Earth, as well as the ecosystem services provided by them. Biosphere integrity refers to the Earth's biodiversity, which impacts the functioning of nearly all aspects of the Earth system.⁶² Steffen et al. recognize biosphere integrity as one of the two core systems, meaning it "has the potential on its own to drive the Earth system into a new state should [it] be substantially and persistently transgressed."⁶³

In the Planetary Boundaries framework, there are two components of biosphere integrity: genetic diversity and functional diversity. Genetic diversity refers to "the role of genetically unique material as the 'information bank' that ultimately determines the potential for life to coevolve."⁶⁴ As data is not yet available to measure genetic diversity, the global extinction rate is used as the interim control variable. Functional diversity aims to measure the role the biosphere plays in the more extensive Earth System. Functional diversity is measured using the Biosphere Intactness Index (BII), which "assesses change in population abundance as a result of human impacts, such as land or resource use…"⁶⁵ According to Steffan et al.'s analysis, we have already surpassed the boundary for biosphere integrity.⁶⁶

Drivers and Pressures

The degradation or destruction of local habitats. Habitats are destroyed or degraded through changes in land use, such as deforestation and conversion to land for agricultural purposes, as well as pollution of habitats through novel entities, sewage, or nutrient loading (disruptions in biogeochemical flows). The disruption of water patterns can
also change species' habitats. Changes in habitat can impact species' ability to access resources and support themselves, leading to losses in biodiversity.⁶⁷

Climate change. Climate change can impact biosphere integrity through variations in seasonal temperatures and ranges, which in turn can impact reproductive patterns. As climate changes across landscapes, species have also been experienced a shifting in their range towards higher latitudes and elevations. These range shifts could signal natural adaptation among species, but impose impacts on other species within the new ranges and increase the risk of extinction.⁶⁸

Invasive species. Often introduced by humans, invasive species can also threaten local biodiversity by outcompeting native species for resources and habitat.⁶⁹

Agriculture. Agricultural practices impact biodiversity both indirectly, through habitat destruction, and directly; it is estimated that nearly 75% of the world's food now comes from twelve plant and five animal species.⁷⁰ This lack of genetic diversity in modern food production not only impacts biosphere integrity but reduces the resilience of our food production systems.⁷¹

Stratospheric ozone depletion. The increase in UV rays caused by the depletion of the ozone can cause harm to some species and impact biodiversity.⁷²

Impacts

Loss of biosphere integrity has impacts across the Earth System as it provides many ecosystem services; the biosphere provides Earth with oxygen, fresh water, fertile soil, raw materials, and food, among others. The biosphere regulates the climate, water, and the flow of nutrients. It also helps filter pollution from the water and air and can act as a sink for carbon dioxide. A loss of biosphere integrity could lead to a disruption in these ecosystem services and cause abrupt changes to the structure and functioning of the Earth system.⁷³



Land-system change refers to "the biogeophysical processes in land systems that directly regulate climate - exchange of energy, water, and momentum between the land surface and the atmosphere."⁷⁴ In other words, it refers to the role that land use plays in its connection to the atmosphere.⁷⁵ Steffan et al. clarify that the focus of this system is on changes that influence climates beyond a regional scale.⁷⁶ The control variable is the amount of remaining forest cover, compared to original forest cover, although the boundary is understood to cover other forms of land conversion and not just deforestation. We are currently within the zone of uncertainty for land-system change.⁷⁷

Drivers and Pressures

Conversion of land for agricultural uses, infrastructure, resource extraction, and

urbanization. In the five years following 2010, an estimated 32 million hectares of tropical forest were lost. 73% of this loss was due to large-scale and smallholder farming, while the remainder was due to infrastructure development, resource extraction activities such as mining and logging, and urbanization.⁷⁸

Wildfires and other extreme weather events. Whether set intentionally or occurring through natural causes, fires are also a cause of land-system change, leading to the loss of millions of acres of forest cover every year.⁷⁹

Invasive species. Invasive species can cause damage to natural ecosystems, such as forests. Researchers in Hawaii have found that invasive species can cause damage at a rate that impacts the existing land system on a regional level.⁸⁰

Disruptions in the water cycle. Changes to the water cycle can lead to drought, which impacts trees' survival rates. In forest ecosystems, this can lead to a reinforcing feedback loop in which further tree loss causes increased impacts to the water cycle, resulting in the conversion of forest areas to grassland.⁸¹

Impacts

The loss and degradation of species' habitats. When land is converted to different uses than its current state, it can degrade, disrupt, or destroy the natural habitat of species, causing them to be displaced.⁸²

Changes to radiative forcing. Land-use changes such as deforestation, desertification, and urbanization can all influence Earth's radiative forcing and how much energy is absorbed by the Earth.⁸³ At the local level, this impact can be seen through an increase in the use of concrete and other dark materials that absorb, rather than reflect the sun's energy, leading urban areas to be as much as 12 degrees Celsius hotter than their rural counterparts.⁸⁴

Increase in atmospheric greenhouse gases. When forests are destroyed, through burning in particular, they release carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases such as methane and nitrous oxide in the atmosphere, increasing the level of atmospheric greenhouse gases. Additionally, since forests play a key role in carbon sequestration, the destruction of forests reduces the amount of carbon dioxide that is removed from the atmosphere.⁸⁵ 15% of all greenhouse gas emissions are estimated to result from the carbon emitted when forests are cut or burned in deforestation and forest degradation.⁸⁶

Disruptions to the water cycle. Trees are a key player in the water cycle as they balance the water between the land and the atmosphere. Destruction of large areas of forest cover can disrupt this balance, causing changes in precipitation and the flow of rivers.⁸⁷ Forests can provide up to 70% of their own rainfall through evaporation.⁸⁸ Forests play such a substantial role in the regulation of the water cycle that reducing the Amazon rainforest to 40% of its potential tree cover could result in reduced rainfall over 2,000 miles away, while the complete destruction of the Amazon rainforest would impact rainfall in the United States.⁸⁹





Drivers and Pressures

Nitrogen and phosphorus are both naturally occurring elements that are vital to all living organisms. However, since the Industrial Revolution, human sources have been disrupting their natural cycles. Compared to geological sources in pre-industrial times, it is estimated that human activities have moved nine times more nitrogen and 13 times more phosphorus from the Earth's crust and atmosphere into the environment.⁹¹

Agriculture. Nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers are heavily used in modern industrial practices, with an estimated half of the human population depending on the fertilizer for their food.⁹² Excess fertilizer that is not used by crops can leach into soil and nearby waterways.⁹³ In the United States, it is estimated that approximately 75-80% of anthropogenic nitrous oxide emissions result from agricultural activities.⁹⁴

Solid waste. Both nitrogen and phosphorous are excreted as waste, and it is estimated that annually, the human population excretes approximately three million tons of

phosphorus through urine and feces. As urban populations grow, cities are becoming nutrient hotspots.⁹⁵

Fossil fuel combustion. Fossil fuel combustion emits nitrogen oxides into the atmosphere.⁹⁶ In particular, industrial activities and energy production contribute significantly in this area, with an estimated 20% of anthropogenic nitrous oxide emissions in the United States come from the industrial sector and the energy production sector.⁹⁷

Impacts

Climate change. In its atmospheric form, nitrogen is considered to be a potent greenhouse gas. Nitrous oxide, a gaseous form of nitrogen that is mostly emitted from fertilized soil, animal waste and combustion of fossil fuels and biomass, is considered to be 300 times more effective at heating the atmosphere than carbon dioxide.⁹⁸

Atmospheric pollution. Fossil fuel combustion releases nitric oxide into the atmosphere, which can combine with other elements to form smog and acid rain.⁹⁹ Atmospheric nitrogen can also encourage secondary particulate matter in the atmosphere.¹⁰⁰ Excess amounts of nutrients, like nitrogen and phosphorous, in waterways is also considered a form of pollution.¹⁰¹

Aquatic acidification and eutrophication. When an excess amount of nutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorous, are deposited into waterways, eutrophication can occur and an increase in algae growth, which is often considered to be toxic. When these algae die, they consume oxygen and release carbon dioxide into the water. The lack of oxygen can cause die-offs in local aquatic species, and the increase in carbon dioxide can cause the water to acidify.¹⁰² Nitrogen in waterways can lead to low or no oxygen conditions, killing off local species and contributing to eutrophication and toxic algal blooms.¹⁰³

Biosphere integrity. Researchers have identified the deposition of atmospheric nitrogen as a threat to plant diversity as nitrogen can cause species compositions to change over time, often resulting in a decline in biodiversity and the changing in the composition of species habitats.¹⁰⁴ As many species rely on nitrogen as a major nutrient, changes in the amount of available nitrogen can "influence the productivity of ecosystems and change the competition between species and biological diversity."¹⁰⁵

Stratospheric ozone depletion. Nitrous oxide, a greenhouse gas that can come from agricultural practices and the burning of fossil fuels, is the most dominant ozone-depleting substance in the 21st century.¹⁰⁶

Atmospheric Aerosol Loading



Aerosols are small particles suspended in the atmosphere that can either absorb or reflect the sun's light, leading to changes in the Earth's energy balance and interacting with water vapour to impact cloud formation. Atmospheric aerosols vary in size and chemical composition, with different forms of aerosols having different environmental impacts; some contribute to global warming while others contribute to cooling. To the human eye, atmospheric aerosol loading is most recognizable as haze or smog. The atmospheric aerosol level is included as a planetary boundary due to its ability to impact the climate system and its adverse impacts on human health such as cancer and respiratory disease.¹⁰⁷ A boundary for atmospheric aerosol loading has not yet been determined.¹⁰⁸

Drivers and Pressures

Atmospheric aerosols have both natural sources and anthropogenic sources.¹⁰⁹ Ocean spray, mineral dust, and forest fires are some of the leading natural sources of atmospheric aerosols and comprise the majority of atmospheric aerosols. Anthropogenic sources of atmospheric aerosols are only come from natural sources about 20% of the time.¹¹⁰ However, they are increasing, and their impacts on the climate system are not well known.

Industrial dust. The primary industrial sources of atmospheric aerosols are from vehicles and road dust, the combustion of fuel and coal, the manufacturing of cement, metallurgy, the incineration of industrial waste, and dust from agricultural land and other land-based practices (such as mining and resource extraction). Over the last 20 years, these sources have had the most visible impacts on environmental quality.¹¹¹

Fossil fuel combustion. Coal power plants and vehicular emissions contribute significantly to the level of atmospheric aerosols. These emissions are expected to double between 2016 and 2040 as fossil fuel reliance increases, particularly in countries like China and India. Soot particles from fossil fuel combustion, which are dark in colour, absorb energy from the sun, increasing the global temperature when there are large amounts.¹¹²

Waste and biomass burning. Atmospheric particles resulting from biomass burning, including from agricultural burning and uncontrolled fires, can have global and regional climate impacts. The intentional burning of biomass for land clearing and agricultural purposes contributes significantly to atmospheric aerosol loading.¹¹³

Agriculture. Humans emit large amounts of nitrate aerosols into the environment in the form of ammonia and nitric oxide, and agricultural use of fertilizer is a significant contributor of ammonia.¹¹⁴ The burning of crop residue and certain tillage practices also contribute to the release of particulate matter and atmospheric aerosol loading.¹¹⁵

Impacts

Pollution. Atmospheric aerosol loading impacts air pollution most directly through the emission of particulate matter. The human health impacts of large amounts and concentrations of atmospheric aerosols are well-known; in the mid-2000s, fine particulate matter was estimated to have caused nearly 6.4 million deaths per year.¹¹⁶

Disruption of the water cycle. Aerosols can interfere with water vapour in the atmosphere and lead to changes in cloud formation and the distribution of water. Although not yet measured on a global scale, this impact has been demonstrated through research on Asian monsoon patterns.¹¹⁷

Desertification. Atmospheric aerosols in the form of dust can contribute to desertification. As dust particles absorb sunlight, they warm the air around them, inhibiting storm cloud formation. Without storm clouds, areas experience less rainfall and can contribute to desert expansion.¹¹⁸

Changes in radiative forcing. Depending on their composition and size, atmospheric aerosols can absorb or reflect sunlight. When aerosols absorb the sun's energy, it can cause atmospheric heating, while aerosols that reflect the sun's energy can cause atmospheric cooling.¹¹⁹ The cooling effects of atmospheric aerosols are estimated to have masked the warming effects of continental warming due to greenhouse gases by about 33% over the past fifty years.¹²⁰

Stratospheric Ozone Depletion

The stratospheric ozone layer is a part of the atmosphere that lies about 15 to 30 kilometres above the Earth's surface and filters ultraviolet (UV) radiation from the sun. Depletion of stratospheric ozone results in an increase in the amount of UV radiation reaching the Earth's surface, which can result in negative impacts on human health and other species.¹²¹ In the 1980s, it was discovered that there was a stratospheric ozone hole over portions of Antarctica at certain times in the year, signalling a crossing of this boundary.¹²² This discovery led governments to pass the Montreal Protocol, a global agreement passed in 1987, which saw the phasing out of many ozone-depleting chemicals. The Montreal Protocol has proven to be a successful example of global action; most ozone-depleting substances (ODSs) are no longer produced and humanity is now expected to remain within the boundary.¹²³

Drivers and Pressures

Ozone-depleting substances. The stratospheric ozone layer is threatened by chemical compounds that are referred to as ODSs. Chemical compounds containing chlorine or bromine, such as chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs, hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), methyl compounds, and halons, are considered ODSs. When ODSs enter the stratospheric level of the atmosphere, they are broken down by the sun's UV rays into chemicals that degrade the ozone layer. Although most uses of these chemicals have been phased out by the Montreal Protocol, they were widely used in aerosol sprays, refrigerants, air conditioners, fire extinguishers, solvents, and as blowing agents for foams (such as insulation) and packing materials, as well as other household and industrial products.¹²⁴

Nitrous oxide. Research in 2009 found that since the phasing out of the ODSs covered by the Montreal Protocol, nitrous oxide has been the dominant ozone-depleting substance.¹²⁵ Nitrous oxide is a greenhouse gas with natural sources such as soil and human-made sources, including agricultural processes (particularly nitrogen fertilizer use and soil cultivation), animal waste, the burning of biomass and fossil fuels, and other industrial processes.¹²⁶

Impacts

Damage to the ozone layer in the stratosphere can lead to the development of an ozone hole which allows higher levels of UV to reach Earth's surface, causing a variety of impacts:

Human health and animal impacts. Increased exposure to UV rays can cause cancer and cataracts and can negatively impact the immune system, leading to an increase in infectious disease.¹²⁷

Damage to plant productivity. Research has shown that pants that are exposed to increased UV levels see reductions in their leaf size, which limits their ability to perform photosynthesis, a process essential to plant growth. Exposure to UV rays can also negatively impact the reproduction rates of plants and influence how they use different nutrients.¹²⁸

Impacts on aquatic life. Research suggests that increased UV levels can impact the productivity of marine ecosystems. Increased UV levels can impact the distribution of phytoplankton, which forms the base of aquatic food webs. UV rays can also impact the development of certain aquatic species, such as shrimp, crabs, and amphibians, potentially impacting their reproductive abilities.¹²⁹



Oceans are one of the Earth's main sinks for carbon, having absorbed nearly 30% of anthropogenic carbon dioxide from the atmosphere between 1994 and 2007.¹³⁰ When the ocean absorbs carbon dioxide, carbonic acid is formed, which makes the ocean more acidic. As the ocean's chemical composition changes, it makes it more difficult for some marine species to develop their shells and skeletons. Rockstrom et al. set the boundary for ocean acidification at a level that allows aquatic organisms such as corals, shellfish, and plankton to survive.¹³¹ As ocean acidification is directly related to levels of carbon dioxide, the boundary for ocean acidification is closely linked to that of climate change. Although we have not yet crossed the boundary, research shows that ocean acidification is "at least 100 times faster than at any other time in the last 20 million years."¹³²

Drivers and Pressures

Atmospheric carbon dioxide. Carbon dioxide is emitted into the atmosphere through the burning of fossil fuels for electricity, transportation, manufacturing, construction, and the burning of biomass (such as forests) and is absorbed by oceans.¹³³

Nutrient runoff. Nutrients such as nitrogen and organic carbon, primarily used in fertilizer in agriculture, can be deposited into coastal areas through runoff. An excess of nutrients can cause eutrophication, in which algae growth increases. When these algae die, they consume oxygen and release carbon dioxide into the coastal waters, increasing acidification in coastal areas.¹³⁴

Impacts

Impacts on aquatic animals. When the ocean absorbs carbon dioxide, it triggers a series of chemical reactions, which result in a reduced amount of carbonate ions and calcium carbonate, which are essential for building shells and skeletons of many marine animals. A decrease in the amount of carbonate ions and calcium carbonate makes building and maintaining shells difficult or impossible, and can have severe impacts on organisms such as oysters, clams, corals, sea urchins, and certain plankton. Increased ocean acidification can also impact the physiological development of marine organisms.¹³⁵

Altering of the aquatic food chain. Increased acidity impacts some species that form the foundation of food chains in the oceans. If these species are impacted severely, it could lead to the destabilization of entire aquatic ecosystems.¹³⁶

Freshwater Use

Globally, it is estimated that nearly four billion people experience water scarcity in at least one month of the year.¹³⁷ Pressure from human activities is already the dominant force driving changes to global freshwater systems. With water shortages expected in the future, these impacts will only become more severe. Humans alter water systems through damning and agricultural practices, and the global water cycle is heavily impacted through land-system changes. It is estimated that 35% of the world's rivers run dry before reaching the oceans that have long been their destinations due to human consumption along the river basins.¹³⁸ In 2018, nearly 70 countries experienced water stress.¹³⁹ Stress on freshwater systems is mostly local - while some areas have far surpassed a safe consumption of freshwater, others are operating safely within the boundary.

Drivers and Pressures

Freshwater consumption in agriculture, industry, and energy production. Globally, 10 million tons of freshwater is used by humans every day. About 70% of this water is used for agriculture, 15% is used for energy production, 10% is used for domestic purposes, and 5% is used in manufacturing and industry processes.¹⁴⁰

Land-system changes. Certain land uses, such as forests, play a vital role in the water cycle as they absorb water from the land and move it to the atmosphere through a process called transpiration. As mentioned earlier, the removal of forest cover can severely disrupt this balance, putting pressure on the global water system.¹⁴¹

Polluted water sources. There are many causes of water pollution, and pollution can enter waterways directly or indirectly through runoff or melting snow. Nonpoint source pollution, which is not deposited directly into waterways from the source, is a significant issue. Many pollutants, including agricultural products, oil and chemicals from industry and transportation, bacteria, and pet waste, among others, enter waterways through this process. Polluted freshwater is often unsafe for consumption as it can cause human health issues. When polluted sources of freshwater are unusable, the strains on other freshwater systems is increased.¹⁴²

Flow modification. Social infrastructure such as reservoirs, dams, canals, and aqueducts are used for energy production or to ensure water security for populations. These interventions have transformative impacts on freshwater systems, including the fragmentation of the original water source, increased rates of evaporation, and impacts on aquatic species.¹⁴³

Climate change. Climate change puts pressure on existing freshwater sources through increased temperatures and changes in precipitation patterns that are used to recharge freshwater stores.¹⁴⁴ For example, an increase in temperature can reduce the amount of snowfall in some mountainous regions, causing watersheds that typically rely on these snow melts as a source of water in the spring to have reduced flows.

Impacts

Biosphere integrity. Although freshwater only covers about 0.8% of the Earth's surface, freshwater systems support at least 100,000 species, 6% of species known on Earth.¹⁴⁵ Research of 4,000 cities, with as many as 1.7 billion residents, found that 85% of the sources that supply water to these regions have high biodiversity value.¹⁴⁶ When freshwater sources are overused, polluted or modified, they contribute to the destruction and degradation of habitats for these species, limiting their ability to survive.

Food security. Agriculture is responsible for nearly 70% of the world's freshwater consumption, and water is critical to the support of agricultural systems. As the population is expected to grow in the coming decades, stress on water sources could lead to food scarcity issues.¹⁴⁷

Novel Entities



Novel entities are a critical component of modern life; they are present in nearly every single economic sector and most aspects of daily life. Novel entities are defined as "new substances, new forms of existing substances, and modified life forms that have the potential for unwanted geophysical and/or biological effects."¹⁴⁸ Novel entities are difficult to quantify as they cover chemical pollution across a wide range of sources including, heavy metals, radioactive compounds, genetically modified organisms, and other human-made organic compounds.¹⁴⁹ Despite novel entities not having an identified boundary, Rockstrom et al. justified their inclusion of novel entities in the framework because their human and environmental impacts were evident on a global scale.¹⁵⁰

Drivers and Pressures

Industrial and manufacturing activity. Almost all industrial and manufacturing processes include novel entities in some form. It is estimated that there are over 100 million humanmade chemicals used in industrial processes. Mining and ore processing, metallurgy, pharmaceutical manufacturing, leather tanning, gold-mining, product and chemical manufacturing and the dye industry are examples of some of the leading sources of novel entities in this area.¹⁵¹

Agriculture. Many fertilizers and pesticides are considered to be novel entities.¹⁵² Genetically modified organisms, which alters the genetic makeup of crops, usually for increased crop output or nutrient presence, are also considered novel entities.¹⁵³ **Consumer products.** Many consumer products on the market today contain novel entities, including most household cleaning products, personal care and cosmetic products, furniture, and clothing. Plastic, a staple of many aspects of everyday life, is considered a novel entity.¹⁵⁴

Impacts

Climate change. Some novel entities are considered greenhouse gases and can contribute to climate change, while others are created from materials like petroleum, which releases carbon dioxide when they degrade or if they are burned as waste.¹⁵⁵

Pollution. Novel entities can cause pollution in the atmosphere, soil and water sources. In water, this pollution can occur either through the discharge of novel entities directly into the water source or after being deposited into water sources from the atmosphere. Pollution of the atmosphere can lead to human health impacts, and pollution of water sources can have severe impacts on aquatic ecosystems. Soil pollution from novel entities can be caused by the dumping of waste, chemical spills, mining activities, or pesticides, among other sources.¹⁵⁶

Biodiversity. Novel entities can impact biodiversity both through directly impacting the health of animals and other organisms, as well as through the pollution of their habitats, as previously mentioned.¹⁵⁷ Plastic, which is considered a novel entity, is of particular concern due to its ability to be consumed by animals. The IPBES estimates that at least 267 species, including 86% of marine turtles, 44% of seabirds, and 43% of marine mammals are impacted by plastic.¹⁵⁸

Mapping the Boundaries

Using the information gathered in the "Understanding the Boundaries" section of this report, two visualizations were created to demonstrate the complexity of the Earth System and the influences and interactions between and among its human and environment dimensions.

The first visualization is called **Boundary Influences**, and maps at the greater network of drivers and pressures among all boundaries.

The second visualization is called **Boundary Interactions** and maps only the connections between the nine planetary boundaries.

These visualizations and the information stored within them are presented in this section.



The first visualization explores the influences between human actions and the environment. To create this visualization, the information for each boundary provided in the previous section of this report was aggregated and sorted to uncover the human actions, environmental pressures, and impacts that played the most significant role across all the boundaries. This sorting exercise resulted in eleven anthropogenic drivers and eleven environmental pressures, which are listed below, along with their descriptions.

Anthropogenic Drivers

Agriculture	Agriculture includes all activities related to the agricultural industry, including fertilizer use, land tilling, soil degradation, crops and livestock, land clearing, and land management.
Industry and Manufacturing	Industry and manufacturing include all processes used in the fabrication and processing of products, including the conversion of raw materials to products. It includes the creation of chemicals, textiles, machinery, and materials, such as metals or plastics.
Energy Production	Energy production refers to the creation of energy from both renewable and nonrenewable sources. Although they overlap, this category is differentiated from the fossil fuel

	combustion category as not all forms of energy production, such as hydropower or solar power, stem from fossil fuel combustion.					
Fossil Fuel Combustion	Fossil fuel combustion refers to the burning of fossil fuels, typically for energy purposes. Fossil fuel combustion includes the burning coal, oil and natural gas, and contributes to the emission of greenhouse gases and other air pollutants.					
Resource Extraction	 Resource extraction refers to the process of extracting materials from the natural environment. Logging and mineral mining are examples of resource extraction. Solid waste refers to all forms of waste, including sewage and material waste that is typically sent to a landfill. Transportation includes all forms of travel, including cars, planes and boats. Fires can occur from both anthropogenic and natural sources 					
Solid Waste	material waste that is typically sent to a landfill. Transportation includes all forms of travel, including cars, planes and boats.					
Transportation						
Fires	Fires can occur from both anthropogenic and natural sources and are increasing in intensity and occurrence with increased temperatures and drought. Fires can be considered both an anthropogenic impact (human actions are often causes of fires, and some fires are intentionally set, as in the case of land clearing) and environmental pressures and impacts (lightning storms can cause the start of wildfires or bushfires in areas experiencing drought conditions). They are included as an anthropogenic driver as intentionally set fires cause severe environmental degradation on a global scale each year.					
Urbanization	Urbanization refers to the development of human settlements and cities.					
Ozone-Depleting Substances (ODSs)	Ozone-depleting substances (ODSs) are chemical compounds containing chlorine or bromine, such as chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), methyl compounds, and halons. These chemical compounds were mostly phased out with the Montreal Protocol. They were commonly found in aerosol sprays,					

	refrigerants, air conditioners, fire extinguishers, solvents, and as blowing agents for foams (such as insulation) and packing materials, as well as other household and industrial products. ¹⁵⁹				
Invasive Species	Invasive species are species that are not native to a location. Invasive species can be introduced through human activities or environmental changes and often cause damage to the local environment. ¹⁶⁰				

Environmental Pressures

Degraded Water Sources	Degraded water sources refer to a decrease in water quality, typically caused by pollution and runoff.			
Disruption of the Water Cycle	The water cycle is the process of how water evaporates from Earth's surface into the atmosphere, cools and condenses into rainfall or snow in clouds, and falls to the Earth's surface as precipitation. Trees and other plants play a vital role in the regulation of the water cycle through the process of uptaking water from the ground and releasing it to the atmosphere through their leaves in a process called evapotranspiration. Actions such as deforestation disrupt this process.			
Eutrophication	Eutrophication is the process of excess plant and algae growth, typically caused by the increased availability of nutrients (such as nitrogen and phosphorous) or carbon dioxide. Although eutrophication can occur naturally, anthropogenic activities have caused an increase in the rate, extent, and occurrence of eutrophication in bodies of water. Eutrophication and the associated algal blooms have several consequences, including degraded water quality. Furthermore, when the algae die, they consume oxygen and result in a "dead-zone" in which there is not enough oxygen for other aquatic species to survive. ¹⁶¹			

Extreme Weather

Extreme weather events include heat waves, droughts, heavy rains, floods, hurricanes, and other storms such as winter storms and tornadoes. Although these have occurred throughout time, there is strong evidence to suggest that they are growing in occurrence and intensity with climate change. Heatwaves are abnormally hot weather conditions that last for days or weeks. Droughts occur when higher temperatures increase the rate of evaporation from plants, resulting in drying conditions on land. In the United States, increased rainfall and more torrential downpours have occurred steadily since the early 1990s, and have led to disastrous floods. Floods include flash floods, urban flooding, coastal flooding, and river flooding. Hurricanes have also increased in intensity and occurrence with the rise of climate change due to different atmospheric conditions and an increase in sea surface temperatures. Although there is some scientific evidence to suggest a changing climate may be causing more and worse winter storms and tornadoes, the exact impacts are uncertain, and they continue to be studied.¹⁶²

Greenhouse Gases

Greenhouse gases are gases in the atmosphere that trap energy (heat) from the sun, causing a heating effect in the atmosphere, similar to the functioning of a greenhouse. The Kyoto Protocol describes carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and sulphur hexafluoride as the leading greenhouse gases, but notes that carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide are crucial as they are primarily caused by human activities.¹⁶³ The significant contributors to anthropogenic greenhouse gases on a global scale are energy use (primarily for electricity and heating, transportation, and manufacturing and construction), agriculture, industrial processes, waste processing and land-use change and forestry.¹⁶⁴

Habitat Loss, Fragmentation, and Degredation

Habitat loss, fragmentation, and degradation are significant impacts of land-system change and central pressure on biodiversity loss. Habitat loss refers to the absolute destruction of a species' habitat. Habitat fragmentation means the loss of portions of a species' habitat and may restrict movement or migration of the species.

	Habitat degradation refers to the weakening of a species' habitat, often through partial destruction or pollution.				
Increase in UV Rays	due to its important impacts on sea-level rise and role in feedback loop between greenhouse gases and a warming climate. Pollution refers to the introduction of harmful materials in the environment. Water pollution, air pollution, and soil				
Melting of Ice Stores	Melting of ice stores is included as an environmental pressure due to its important impacts on sea-level rise and role in the feedback loop between greenhouse gases and a warming climate.				
Pollution	Pollution refers to the introduction of harmful materials into the environment. Water pollution, air pollution, and soil pollution are the main types of pollution included in this category.				
Radiative Forcing	Radiative forcing is defined as the difference between the amount of energy absorbed by Earth and the amount of energy radiated or reflected into space. When more energy is absorbed by the Earth than reflected, the Earth warms. Conversely, when the Earth reflects more energy than it absorbs, the Earth cools. Increases in radiative forcing can be caused by greenhouse gases, ozone and stratospheric water vapour, atmospheric aerosols, and land-use changes. ¹⁶⁶				
Sea Level Rise	Since 1900, the global mean sea level has risen 16-21 cm, with nearly a third of that happening since 1993. Warming of the earth's temperature is the primary driver of sea-level rise, as it causes oceans to expand as they absorb heat, causes the loss of ice sheets through melting, and it causes the loss of glaciers in a similar manner. ¹⁶⁷				

Boundary Influences Visualization

This information was used to create a visualization of the relationships between anthropogenic actions and the boundary framework (Figure 4) in Kumu, a systemsmapping platform. Additional details about the display of this visualization can be found in the Discussion section of this report.

An interactive version of this visualization, made using the systems-mapping program Kumu, can be viewed at http://bit.ly/38gD6Nk. Instructions on how to navigate this visualization in Kumu can be found in Appendix B - Visualization Links and Instructions.



Figure 4. Still image of the boundary influences visualization.



In researching the drivers and impacts of the boundaries, it became clear that there were strong links between various boundaries. Visualizing the boundary interactions is useful to understand the interconnectedness of the Earth System and highlights how degradation in one boundary can lead to impacts across the entire Earth System. To demonstrate these interactions, I summarized the information presented previously on the influences across boundaries in order to map boundary-to-boundary interactions. Table 1 highlights these influences, and descriptions of each of these interactions is included below.

1. Climate change impacts biosphere integrity.

2. Climate change and land-system change impact each other. As the climate changes, species must adapt to new seasonal temperatures and temperature ranges, which can impact their reproductive patterns and cause them to migrate to high latitudes, out of their natural habitat.

Changes in temperatures, participation patterns and weather events can force land-system changes. When forests are removed, they can no longer absorb carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, furthering climate change. Also, changes in land use can impact the Earth's radiative forcing, causing climate changes.

	СС	BI	LSC	BGF	AAL	SOD	OA	FWU	NE
сс		1	2			5	6	8	
BI			9	10				14	
LSC	2	9		16	17			18	19
BGF	3	10	16				20	21	
AAL	4	11	17					24	
SOD	5	12							
OA	6	13			23				
FWU		14	18	21					
NE	8	5	19	22	25	26		27	

Legend

CC = Climate Change

- BI = Biosphere Integrity
- LSC = Land-System Change
- BGF= Biogeochemical Flows
- AAL = Atmospheric Aerosol Loading

SOD = Stratospheric Ozone Depletion OA = Ocean Acidification FWU = Freshwater Use NE = Novel Entities

Table 2. Boundary Interactions.

How to read this table: In this table, the direction of influence moves from the column on the left to the row at the top. Influences that are one-directional (only moving from the boundary indicated in the column on the left to the boundary indicated in the row on the top) are highlighted in light grey, while bidirectional influences are highlighted in dark grey. For example, the cell labelled "1" demonstrates that Climate Change influences Bisophere Integrity, while the cell labelled "2" demonstrates that Climate Change and Land-System Change influence each other. The numbers in each cell are associated with the descriptions provided in this section.

*The above table has been developed based on a model created during an academic placement with Arup's Foresight, Research + Innovation team.

- Biogeochemical flows impact climate change.
 Nitrogen-based fertilizers can convert to nitrous oxide, which is a greenhouse gas that is 300 times more effective at heating the atmosphere than carbon dioxide.
- Atmospheric aerosols impact the Earth's energy absorption, causing changes in the Earth's radiative forcing. While some aerosols can increase Earth's temperature, aerosols are primarily thought to have cooling impacts on the Earth's climate due to their ability to reflect sunlight.
- 5. Climate change and stratospheric ozone depletion is not a significant factor in climate change, but the two are connected. Ozone traps heat from the sun in two layers of the Earth's atmosphere, leading to warming; ozone holes have had cooling effects. Nitrous oxide contributes to both climate warming and stratospheric ozone depletion, as do most ODSs.
- 6. Climate change and ocean acidification impact each other.
 Carbon dioxide is a primary driver for both worsening climate change and ocean acidification. Oceans absorb a large portion of carbon dioxide (and heat) that would otherwise have stayed in the atmosphere; since 1995, oceans have stored 93% of the heat trapped by greenhouse gas emissions. Increased ocean acidification can lead to the increased production of a sulphur compound that, when emitted to the atmosphere, contributes to the warming of Earth by reducing the amount of solar radiation that is reflected).
- Climate change impacts freshwater use.
 Climate change has significant impacts on precipitation patterns, decreasing the stability and security of existing and historically reliable water sources.
- Novel entities Many novel entities act as greenhouse gases or cause other alterations to the Earth's chemical balance.
 change.

- 9. Biosphere integrity and land-system change impact each other.
 Changes to land systems can lead to the degradation or loss of natural habitats for species. Changes in biodiversity and the loss of species can have ecosystem-wide impacts, potentially resulting in the shift of land use through ecosystem collapse, which in turn impacts further loss in biosphere integrity.
- 10. Biosphere integrity and biogeochemical flows impact each other.
 Atmospheric nitrogen can result in changes to species composition over time, as well as impact their habitats. Changes to the amount of available nitrogen can also influence ecosystem productivity and biological diversity. Eutrophication from excess nutrient inputs into waterways can also threaten aquatic life in localized areas. As biogeochemical flows rely on both non-living and living components of the environment, changes in biosphere integrity could impact the large-scale cycling of nutrients through the environment.
- 11. Atmospheric Just as atmospheric aerosol loading can cause medical complications in humans, it can also cause damage to animals. Aerosols can also block sunlight and limit plants' ability to grow as well as alter cloud formation and precipitation patterns that species rely on.
- 12. Stratospheric ozone depletion impacts biosphere integrity.
 Stratospheric ozone causes increased UV rays hitting the Earth's surface, which can cause cancer and immune system issues in humans and animals. Increased UV rays can also limit plant growth and reproductive rates, as well as limit the productivity and reproductive abilities of marine ecosystems, potentially leading to food system weakening.
- Ocean acidification impacts biosphere integrity.
 Ocean acidification limits the ability of some aquatic species to build shells or skeletons and has impacts on the physiological development of marine organisms.
- 14. Biosphere integrity and freshwater use impact each other.
 Freshwater systems support at least 100,000 species, and the majority of water supplies to major cities come from regions with high biodiversity value. When freshwater sources are overused, polluted or modified, they contribute to the destruction and

degradation of habitats for these species, limiting their ability to survive. Biodiversity, particularly richness in the types of algae, plays a vital role in maintaining the health of water systems and cleaning up pollutants in water systems.

- 15. Novel entities
 impact biosphere
 integrity.
 Pollution caused by novel entities can impact the health and
 survival rates of different species, as well as damage their
 habitats. Genetically modified organisms alter the genetic
 diversity of the biosphere and may outcompete native
 species.
- 16. Land-system change and biogeochemical flows impact each other.
 Agriculture is the primary driver of land-system change, and this conversion often increase the use of nitrogen and phosphorus-based fertilizers. As the biogeochemical cycles move through the living and nonliving components of the environment, significant changes to land-system, such as deforestation, can disrupt the flow of nutrients through the environment.
- 17. Land-system change and atmospheric aerosol loading impact each other.
 When forests or other land systems are burned, they emit aerosols into the atmosphere. Atmospheric aerosols can alter cloud formation and precipitation patterns, leading to the spread of desertification.
- 18. Land-system change and freshwater use impact each other.
 Forests play a significant role in regulating regional and global water cycles, and deforestation can lead to decreases in rainfall. Without access to water, land systems may be converted to deserts and agricultural systems can fail.
- 19. Land-system change and novel entities impact each other.
 Specific land-use changes, such as the conversion of forests to agricultural land, increase the number of novel entities used on the land. Pollution of the land and soil from novel entities, including microplastics, can damage the health of and impact the functioning of entire ecosystems, potentially

shifting land systems.

- 20. Biogeochemical Algal blooms caused by excess nutrient inputs release carbon dioxide when they die, causing increased acidification. flows impact ocean acidification. 21. Biogeochemical Excess nutrient inputs can cause eutrophication and algal blooms flows and in freshwater systems. Freshwater systems are often used as carriers freshwater use for nitrogen and phosphorous. impact each other. 22. Novel entities Novel entities include human-made chemicals as well as "naturally occurring elements mobilized by anthropogenic activities." impact biogeochemical Nitrogen fertilizer for agriculture use relies on ammonia produced from the Haber-Bosch process, an artificial and human-made flows. nitrogen fixation process. 23. Ocean acidification Increased ocean acidification leads to the increased production of a sulphur-based atmospheric aerosol. impacts atmospheric aerosol loading. 24. Atmospheric Atmospheric aerosols can cause changes in cloud formation and aerosol loading precipitation patterns, impacting the availability of freshwater in impacts freshwater certain regions. use. 25. Novel entities Many atmospheric aerosols are considered novel entities due to impact atmospheric their artificial composition and the human influence that results in their emission into the atmosphere. aerosol loading. Most ODSs are considered to be novel entities. 26. Novel entities impact stratospheric ozone depletion. 27. Novel entities Novel entities can cause pollution in freshwater systems. impact freshwater
 - use.

Boundary Interactions Visualization

This information on boundary interactions was used to create the second visualization (Figure 5). Visualizing the boundary interactions is useful to understand the interconnectedness of the Earth System and highlights how degradation in one boundary can lead to impacts across the entire Earth System.

An interactive version of this visualization, made using the systems-mapping program Kumu, can be viewed at http://bit.ly/2YghvzX. Instructions on how to navigate this visualization in Kumu can be found in Appendix B - Visualization Links and Instructions.



Figure 5. Still image of the boundary interactions visualization.



Discussion and Conclusion



Discussion

The act of aggregating information on each boundary and visualizing the systems operating between them and the human dimensions of the Earth System allows the reader to begin to conceptualize the complexity of the Earth System.

Visualization 1 - Boundary Influences demonstrates the interconnectedness of the human and environmental dimensions within the Earth System, showing how some actions play an oversized role in the degradation of the environment. Through exploring the map, the user can begin to understand the relationship between the anthropogenic drivers and environmental pressures, and how they are influencing the planetary boundaries. The user would be able to see that agriculture, for example, is highly influential as it directly connects to six of the planetary boundaries, and when second-order connections are included, it connects to all nine of the planetary boundaries. Industry and manufacturing and resource extraction are similarly well connected. Based on these connections, it is easy to understand that changing the current agricultural model, or the industry and manufacturing and resource extraction models, could act as a leverage point to reduce degradation across all nine planetary boundaries.

By showing only the interactions between the nine planetary boundaries, *Visualization* 2 - Boundary Interactions can act as a summary of *Visualization* 1 - Boundary Influences to demonstrate the underlying complexity and system of the Planetary Boundaries framework. This visualization highlights the high-level systems processes of the framework and begins to demonstrate the interdependencies between the boundaries and the feedback loops that, once triggered, can lead to irreversible or run-away changes to the Earth System. For example, degradation in the climate change boundary can lead to degradation in the land-system boundary, which can cause additional degradation in the climate change boundary.

These interactions create a reinforcing, or positive feedback loop in which once triggered, cannot be stopped. *Visualization 2 - Boundary Interactions* shows this feedback at the level of the boundaries, while *Visualization 1 - Boundary Influences* demonstrates some of the details of this feedback such as how climate change can lead to an increase in extreme weather events, which can destroy forests, leading to a reduction in the amount of carbon dioxide sequestered from the environment. Increased atmospheric carbon dioxide, a greenhouse gas, can worsen the impacts of climate change.



Challenges with the Process

A challenge that persisted throughout the gathering and mapping of the information in this report was the sorting of information at an appropriate level of detail. Alternate approaches were attempted to map the information, such as only including the human actions and their impacts on the boundaries (removing the environmental pressures). However, these approaches left out details and weakened the ability of the user to identify important connections in the system. Furthermore, the categorization and sorting of the different influences and impacts into the eleven anthropogenic drivers and environmental pressures influences the output of the report and the nature of the connections. Using a larger number of more detailed drivers and pressure would have resulted in a more detailed map. That said, as the primary goal of this project was to engage non-academic individuals with Earth System complexity and the impactions of anthropogenic drivers, broader categories were used.

At specific points in my research process, I also encountered challenges with finding the appropriate balance of managing the scientific complexity of the information provided while ensuring that it could still be easily understood. As the goal of this project was to provide an introduction to the Planetary Boundaries framework, I opted to limit the scope of the information to a high-level, rather than explaining the step-by-step biological process underlying the concept. While this meant that the report does not include the exact details of many processes, it allows the content to be manageable in length as well as complexity.

Another challenge I faced was with the representation of the two visual outputs. I wanted to ensure that the visualizations showed the connections between various elements. Various forms of systems mapping were explored throughout the process of this project; stock and flow diagrams were useful for showing the impacts of human activities at varying scales and causal loop diagrams began to show success at highlighting the feedback loops. That said, many of these types of systems maps became overly complicated and difficult to navigate. As a central goal of this project was to present the information in an easy-to-understand way, I instead opted to present the visualizations more straightforwardly while still demonstrating causality only through the use of directed arrows.

The challenge of the short three-month time period of this project presented an additional limitation in my reliance on secondary research; no primary research was used to gather or interpret data In reflection of my process, and if given more time to complete the work, I


would have liked to incorporate primary research to allow for a stronger foundation for the guiding of the project, as well as user feedback on the outputs. Specifically, I would have incorporated primary research in the following ways:

- A focus group or survey at the beginning of my process to understand the intended audience's understanding and perception of the Planetary Boundaries framework.
- Workshops during the process of simplifying the terminology and the categorization of elements to understand how the intended audience understood these groupings.
- A series of iterative workshops during the process of creating the visualizations to ensure usability.

Despite not incorporating these methods into this project, the outputs included in this project could act as a prototype and launching point to further categorize and map the boundaries in a workshop and user-driven setting. The main goal of this future work would be to increase the usability of the final visualization and explore different ways of categorizing and visualizing the information across intended audiences.

Areas for Future Exploration

Although this project is an important first step towards presenting information about the Planetary Boundaries framework beyond its current audience, future work is needed to refine the display of information to make it more accessible and easy to understand for the user. For example, sizing of elements or connections could be introduced to visually display significance across the network.

I am also interested in continuing to explore how this tool can be used to inspire or guide action on the boundaries. In future iterations of the visualizations, I would like to highlight feedback loops, making them easier to identify by the viewer. I would also like to apply a sense of weighting to particular systems. For example, degradation in some boundaries, such as biosphere integrity, may have much more severe impacts on other systems compared to degradation in ocean acidification. This approach would require further research, consultation with subject matter experts, and a quantitative approach to modelling the information. Of particular interest to me is incorporating potential solutions into the visualizations. As I continue to explore the concepts presented in this project, I would like to incorporate potential actions that can be taken to restore or protect some of the boundaries.

I am also interested in further exploring these connections against the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) framework. Similar work has been completed by Capmourteres et al. and Kate Raworth,¹⁶⁸ although both offer reduced approaches to one of the two frameworks. With an understanding of the interconnections between the SDGs the Planetary Boundaries framework can provide an understanding of how we can progress on both societal conditions and planetary health. For example, progress on *SDG 2* - *No Hunger* may increase agricultural output, which my research found to be a driving force in the degradation of many of the key systems. Connecting the two frameworks could provide an understanding of trade-offs and synergies that can be used to ensure that progress moves forward for both society and the environment.

Conclusion

The Planetary Boundaries framework outlines the limits to the Earth's ability to sustain human life and highlights the damage caused to the Earth System by human actions. By mapping the interactions between and among the human and environmental dimensions of the Earth System, this project begins to demonstrate the complexity of the Earth's natural system and humanity's role in it. It highlights the delicate balance of environmental conditions that allow humans to live comfortably on this planet. The act of aggregating information on and mapping the human influences across the boundaries also highlights the human activities that are causing the most degradation to this balance and highlights areas in which adaptive or mitigative actions could have the most positive influences.

The two visualizations created by this project demonstrate the need for a systems approach to solving the current environmental crisis. The complexity and interconnectedness portrayed in them not only depict how human activity is intertwined with the natural environment, but it also highlights how human and environmental systems work in tandem in ensuring that the Earth is habitable for human life. The visualizations are useful to demonstrate how we might start to take action towards a more sustainable, or even regenerative, way of living, in which human actions are no longer causing damage to the Earth System, but respecting and restoring the balance that has allowed us to thrive.





References

1 Crutzen P.J. (2006). The "Anthropocene". In: Ehlers E., Krafft T. (Eds.), *Earth System Science in the Anthropocene*. Springer, Berlin, pp.13-17.

2 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boun=daries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32.

3 Walsh, J., Wuebbles, D., Hayhoe, K., Kossin, J., Kunkel, K., Stephens, G., ... & Somerville, R. (2014). Our Changing Climate. In Melillo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., & Yohe, G.W. (Eds.), *Climate Change Impacts int he United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington D.C., USA, pp.19-67, doi:10.7930/J0KW5CXT.

4 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boun=daries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32.

5 Ibid.

6 Kumar, V. (2012). 101 design methods: A structured approach for driving innovation in your organization. John Wiley & Sons.

7 European Environmental Agency [EEA]. (1999). Environmental indicators: typology and overview. *European Environmental Agency*, Copenhagen.

8 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 2.

9 Crutzen P.J. (2006). The "Anthropocene". In: Ehlers E., Krafft T. (Eds.), *Earth System Science in the* Anthropocene. Springer, Berlin, pp.13-17.

10 Ibid.

11 Steffan, W., Grinevald J., Crutzen, P., and McNeill, J. (2011). The Anthropocene: conceptual and historical perspectives. *Philosophy Transactions of the Royal Society A*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2010.0327

12 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/ science.1259855

13 Steffan, W., Rockstrom, J., Richardson, K., Lenton, T.M., Folke, C., Liverman, D.,...& Schellnhuber, H.J. (2018). Trajectories of the Earth System in the Anthropocene. *PNAS*, 115(33), 8256.

14 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32.

15 Steffen, W., Broadgate, W., Deutsch, L., Gaffney, O., & Ludwig, C. (2015). The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The Great Acceleration. *The Anthropocene Review, 2*(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019614564785

16 Steffen, W., Broadgate, W., Deutsch, L., Gaffney, O., & Ludwig, C. (2015). The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The Great Acceleration. *The Anthropocene Review, 2*(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019614564785

17 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32.

18 Ibid, 2.

19 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/ science.1259855

20 Nykvist, B., Persson, A., Moberg, F., Persson, L., Cornell, S., & Rockstrom, J. (2013). National Environmental Performance on Planetary Boundaries: A study for the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (Report No. 6576). Retrieved from https://www.naturvardsverket. se/Documents/publikationer6400/978-91-620-6576-8. pdf; Dao, H., Peduzzi, P., & Friot, D. (2018). National environmental limits and footprints based on the Planetary Boundaries framework: The case of Switzerland. Global Environmental Change, 52, 49-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2018.06.0052; Lucas, P. & Wilting, H. (2018). Towards a Safe Operating Space for the Netherlands: Using planetary boundaries to support national implementation of environment-related SDGs (Report No. 2748). Retrieved from https://www.pbl.nl/en/publications/using-planetaryboundaries-to-support-national-implementation-ofenvironment-related-sustainable-development-goals; Hayha, T., Cornell, S.E., Hoff, H., Lucas, P., van Vuuren, D. (2018). Operationalizing the concept of a safe operating space at the EU level - first steps and explorations. Stockholm Resilience Centre, Stockholm University, Sweden. Retrieved from https://www.stockholmresilience.org/publications/ artiklar/2018-07-03-operationalizing-the-concept-of-asafe-operating-space-at-the-eu-level---first-steps-andexplorations.html

Fang, K., Heijungs, R., Duan, Z., & de Snoo,
G.R. (2015). The Environmental Sustainability of Nations:
Benchmarking the Carbon, Water and Land Footprints
against Allocated Planetary Boundaries. *Sustainability*, 7(8),
11285-11305. https://doi.org/10.3390/su70811285

22 O'Neill, D.W., Fanning, A.L., Lamb, W.F., & Steinberger, J.K. (2018). A good life for all within planetary boundaries. *Nature Sustainability, 88*(95). https://doi. org/10.1038/s41893-018-0021-4; Rogers, D.S., Duraiappah, A.K., Antons, D.C., Munoz, P., Bai, X., Fragkias, M., & Gutscher, H. (2012). A vision for human well-being: transition to social sustainability. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 4*(1), 61-73; van den Bergh, J.C.J.M., & Kallis, G. (2014). Growth, A-Growth or Degrowth to Stay within Planetary Boundaries? *Journal of Economic Issues, 46*(4), 909-920; Algunaibet. I.M., Pozo, C., Galan-Matin, A., Huijbregts, M.A., Mac Dowell, N., & Guillen-Gosalbez, G. (2019). Powering sustainable development within the planetary boundaries. *Energy Environmental Science, 12*(6), 1890-1900. doi: 10.1039/C8EE03423K

23 Raworth, K. (2012). A Safe and Just Space for Humanity: Can we live within the doughnut. Oxfam Policy and Practice: Climate Change and Resilience, 8(1), 1-26.

24 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/ science.1259855

25 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. Ecology and Society, 14(2), 1-32; Galaz, V., Crona, B., Osterblom, H., Olsson, P., & Folke, C. (2012). Polycentric systems and interacting planetary boundaries - Emerging governance of climate change-ocean acidification-marine biodiversity. Ecological Economics, 81, 21-32. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.11.012; Clift, R., Sim, S., King, H., Chenoweth, J.L., Christie, I., Clavreul, J.,... Murphy, R. (2017). The Challenges of Applying Planetary Boundaries as a Basis for Strategic Decision-Making in Companies with Global Supply Chains. Sustainability, 9, 279-302. doi:10.3390/su9020279; Lewis, S.L. (2012). We must set planetary boundaries wisely. Nature, 485(417). doi:10.1038/485417a; Montoya, J.M., Donohue, I., & Pimm, S.L. (2017). Planetary Boundaries for Biodiversity: Implausible Science, Pernicious Policies. Trends in Ecology

and Evolution, 33(2), 71-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tree.2017.10.004

26 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32; Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347(6223), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855

27 Scott, M. (2016). We've Been Treating the Planet As If Its Resources Were Infinite - But They're Not. Forbes. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/ mikescott/2016/10/21/weve-been-treating-the-planet-as-ifits-resources-were-infinite-but-theyre-not/#6a9292dcdc92; Narula, S.K. (2015). We've crossed four of the nine boundaries supposedly separating us from planetary destruction. Quartz. Retrieved from https://gz.com/329132/ weve-crossed-four-of-the-nine-boundaries-supposedlyseparating-us-from-planetary-destruction/; Achenbach, J. (2015). Scientists: Human activity has pushed Earth beyond four of nine 'planetary boundaries'. Washington Post. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/ health-science/scientists-human-activity-has-pushed-earthbeyond-four-of-nine-planetary-boundaries/2015/01/15/ f52b61b6-9b5e-11e4-a7ee-526210d665b4_story.html; Kemper, A. & Martin, R. (2013). Get to know your planetary boundaries. The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www. thequardian.com/sustainable-business/know-your-planetaryboundaries; United Nations Climate Change. (2015, January 16. Scientists Say Planetary Boundaries Crossed. [Press release]. Retrieved from https://unfccc.int/news/scientistssay-planetary-boundaries-crossed

28 Meyer, K. & Newman, P. (2018). The Planetary Accounting Framework: a novel quota-based approach to understanding the impacts of any scale of human activity in the context of the Planetary Boundaries. *Sustainable Earth*, 1(4), 1. 29 Plaven-Sigray, P., Matheson, G.J., Schiffler, B.C., & Thompson, W.H. (2017). The readability of scientific texts is decreasing over time. *eLife*, *5*(6), 6. . doi: https://doi. org/10.7554/eLife.27725

30 Ibid.

31 Moser, S.C. (2010). Communicating climate change: history, challenges, process and future directions. *WIREs Climate Change*, 1, 31-53.

32 Novacek, M.J. (2008). Engaging the public in biodiversity issues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105*(1), 11571-11578. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0802599105

33 Grainger, S., Mao, F., & Buytaert, W. (2016). Environmental data visualization for non-scientific contexts: Literature review and design framework. *Environmental Modelling & Software, 85*, 299-318. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2016.09.004

34 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2017). *Communicating science effectively: A research agenda*. National Academies Press.

35 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32

36 Cornell, S. (2012). On the System Properties of the Planetary Boundaries. *Ecology and Society*, 17(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-04731-1701r02

Lezak, S.B. & Thibodeau, P.H. (2016). Systems
thinking and environmental concern. Journal of
Environmental Psychology, 46, 143-153. https://doi.
org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.04.005; Davis, A.C. & Stroink, M.L.
(2016). The Relationship between Systems Thinking and the
New Ecological Paradigm. Systems Research and Behavioral
Science, 33, 575-586. doi: 10.1002/sres.2371

38 Lezak, S.B. & Thibodeau, P.H. (2016). Systems thinking and environmental concern. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 46, 143. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.04.005

39 Ibid.

40 Davis, A.C. & Stroink, M.L. (2016). The Relationship between Systems Thinking and the New Ecological Paradigm. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 33, 575. doi: 10.1002/sres.2371

41 Capmourteres, V., Shaw, S., Miedema, L., & Anand, M. (2019). A complex system framework for the sustainability doughnut. People and Nature, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pan3.10048; Friedrich, J. (2013). Modeling for Planetary Boundaries: A network analysis of the representations of complex human-environmental interactions in integrated global models. (MSc Thesis). Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden; Robinson, D.T., Vittorio, A.D., Alexander, P., Arneth, A., Barton, C.M., ...&Verbyrg, P.H. (2018). Modelling feedbacks between human and natural processes in the land system. Earth Systems Dynamics, 9, 895-914; Hughes, T.P., Carpenter, S., Rockstrom, J., Scheffer, M., & Walker, B. (2013). Multiscale regime shifts and planetary boundaries. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 28(7), 389-395; Gaffney, O., Bondre, N., Seitzinger, S., Stafford Smith, M., Bierman, F., Leemans, R.,...Steffen, W. (2012). Interconnected risks and solutions for a planet under pressure. Policy Brief. Retreived from http://www.igbp.net/nload/18.705e08061 3685f74edb8000871/1376383145660/5_InterconIssues_ FINAL_LR.pdf; Galaz, V., Crona, B., Osterblom, H., Olsson, P., & Folke, C. (2012). Polycentric systems and interacting planetary boundaries - Emerging governance of climate change-ocean acidification-marine biodiversity. Ecological Economics, 81, 21-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolecon.2011.11.012; van Vuuren, D.P., Lucas, P.L., Hayha, T., Cornell, S.E., & Stafford-Smith, M. (2016). Horses for courses: analytical tools to explore planetary boundaries. Earth System Dynamics, 7, 267-279. https://doi.org/10.5194/ esd-7-267-2016; Verberg, P.H., Dearing, J.A., Dyke, J.C.,

van der Leeuw, S. Seitzinger, S., ... & Syvitski, J. (2016). Methods and approaches to modelling the Anthropocene. *Global Environmental Change*, *39*, 328-340. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.08.007; Motesharrei, S., Rivas, J., Kalnay, E., Asra, G.R., Busalacchi, A.J., ...& Zeng, N. (2016). Modeling sustainability: population, inequality, consumption, and bidirectional coupling of the Earth and Human Systems. *National Science Review*, *3*, 470-496; Donges, J.F., Winkelmann, R., Lucht, W., Cornell, S.E., Dyke, J.G., Rockstrom, J.,... Schellnhuber, H.J. (2017). Closing the loop: Reconnecting human dynamics to Earth System science. *The Anthropocene Review*, *4*(2), 151-157. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2053019617725537

42 Bonan, G.B. & Doney, S.C. (2018). Climate, ecosystems, and planetary futures: The challenge to predict life in Earth system models. *Science*, *359*(6375), 1-9. doi: 10.1126/science.aam8328

43 Meyer, K. & Newman, P. (2018). The Planetary Accounting Framework: a novel quota-based approach to understanding the impacts of any scale of human activity in the context of the Planetary Boundaries. *Sustainable Earth*, 1(4), 1-14.

44 Nykvist, B., Persson, A., Moberg, F., Persson, L., Cornell, S., & Rockstrom, J. (2013). *National Environmental Performance on Planetary Boundaries: A study for the Swedish* Environmental Protection Agency (Report No. 6576). Retrieved from https://www.naturvardsverket.se/ Documents/publikationer6400/978-91-620-6576-8.pdf; Meyer, K. & Newman, P. (2018). The Planetary Accounting Framework: a novel quota-based approach to understanding the impacts of any scale of human activity in the context of the Planetary Boundaries. *Sustainable Earth*, 1(4), 1-14.

45 European Environmental Agency [EEA]. (1999). Environmental indicators: typology and overview. *European Environmental Agency*, Copenhagen.

46 Meyer, K. & Newman, P. (2018). The Planetary Accounting Framework: a novel quota-based approach to understanding the impacts of any scale of human activity in the context of the Planetary Boundaries. *Sustainable Earth*, *1*(4), 1-14.

47 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change [UNFCCC]. (2011). Fact sheet: Climate change science - the status of climate change science today. Retrieved from https://unfccc.int/files/press/backgrounders/ application/pdf/press_factsh_science.pdf 48 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing

planet. Science, 347(6223), 1. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855

49 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/ science.1259855

50 Center for Climate and Energy Solutions. (n.d.). Global Emissions. Retrieved from https://www.c2es.org/ content/international-emissions/; Olivier, J.G.S., Van Aardenne, J.A., Dentener, F.J., Pagliari, V., Ganzeveld, L.N., Peters, J.A.H.W. (2005). Recent trends in global greenhouse gas emissions:regional trends 1970–2000 and spatial distribution of key sources in 2000, Environmental Sciences, 2(2-3), 81-99, DOI: 10.1080/15693430500400345

51 Shindell, D. (2013). Radiative forcing in the AR5, Presentation. Retrieved from http://climate.envsci.rutgers. edu/climdyn2013/IPCC/IPCC_WGI12-RadiativeForcing.pdf

52 Myhre, G., Shindell, D., Bréon, F.M., Collins, W., Fuglestvedt, J., Huang, J., ...Zhang, H. (2013). Anthropogenic and Natural Radiative Forcing. In Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.K., Tignor, M., Allen, S.K., Coschung, J.,... & Midgley, P.M. (Eds.), *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 53 United States Global Change Research Program [USGCRP]. (2017). Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program.

54 Trenberth, K.E. (2011). Changes in precipitation with climate change. *Climate Review*, 47, 123-138. doi: https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00953

55 Houerou, H.N.L. (1996). Climate change, drought, and desertification. *Journal of Arid Environments*, *34*(2), 135-185. https://doi.org/10.1006/jare.1996.0099

56 Knuston, T.R., Sirutis, J.J., Vecchi, G.A., Garner, S., Zhao, M., Hyeong-Seog, K.,...& Villarini, G. (2013). Dynamical Downscaling Projections of Twenty-First Century Atlantic Hurricane Activity: CMIP3 and CMIP5 Model-Based Scenarios. *Journal of Climate*, *26*, 6591-6617. https://doi. org/10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00539.1

57 Ryan, M.G. and Vose, J.M. (2012). Effects of Climatic Variability and Change. In Vose, J.M., Peterson, D.L., and Patel-Weynand, T. (Eds.), *Effects of Climatic Variability and Change on Forest Ecosystems: A Comprehensive Science Synthesis for the U.S. Forest Sector* (pp. 7-63). Portland: U.S. Department of Agriculture.

58 United States Global Change Research Program [USGCRP]. (2017). Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program.

59 Ibid.

60 Ibid; Levitus, S.; Antonov, J.; Boyer, T.; Baranova, O.; Garcia, H.; Locarnini, R.; Mishonov, A.; Reagan, J.; Seidov, D.; Yarosh, E.; Zweng, M. (2017). NCEI ocean heat content, temperature anomalies, salinity anomalies, thermosteric sea level anomalies, halosteric sea level anomalies, and total steric sea level anomalies from 1955 to present calculated from in situ oceanographic subsurface profile data (NCEI Accession 0164586). NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. doi:10.7289/V53F4MVP

61 United States Global Change Research Program [USGCRP]. (2017). Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I. Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program.6

62 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32.

63 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347(6223), 1. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855

64 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347(6223), 5. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855

65 Ibid, 6.

66 Ibid.

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on 67 Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services [IPBES]. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn, Germany. Retrieved from https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversityecosystem-services; Slingenberg, A., Braat, L., van der Windt, H., Rademackers, K, Eichler, L, & Turner, K. (2009). Study on understanding the causes of biodiversity loss and the policy assessment framework. European Commission Directorate-General for Environment. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/ environment/enveco/biodiversity/pdf/causes biodiv loss. pdf; World Wildlife Fund. (n.d.). Deforestation and forest degradation. Retrieved from https://www.worldwildlife.org/

threats/deforestation-and-forest-degradation

68 Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services [IPBES]. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn, Germany. Retrieved from https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversityecosystem-services; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. (2009). Connecting Biodiversity and Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation: Report of the Second Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Biodiversity and Climate Change. Montreal, Technical Series No. 41, 126 pages. Retrieved from https://www.cbd.int/doc/publications/ cbd-ts-41-en.pdf

69 International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). (n.d). *Invasive alien species and climate change*. Retrieved from https://www.iucn.org/resources/issues-briefs/ invasive-alien-species-and-climate-change

70 FAO. (2004). Building on Gender, Agrobiodiversity, and Local Knowledge. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/3/ y5609e/y5609e00.htm#Contents

71 Slingenberg, A., Braat, L., van der Windt, H., Rademackers, K, Eichler, L, & Turner, K. (2009). Study on understanding the causes of biodiversity loss and the policy assessment framework. European Commission Directorate-General for Environment. Available at https:// ec.europa.eu/environment/enveco/biodiversity/pdf/ causes_biodiv_loss.pdf; Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services [IPBES]. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn, Germany. Retrieved from https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversityecosystem-services

Foley, J. (2010). Boundaries for healthy planet.

Scientific American, 302(4), 54-57.

73 Scheffer, M., and S. Carpenter. (2003). Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory with observation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution 18*, 648–656.

74 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 7. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855

75 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, 14(2), 1-32.

76 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015a). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347(6223), 1-10. DOI: 10.1126/ science.1259855

77 Ibid.

78 Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services [IPBES]. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn, Germany. Retrieved from https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversityecosystem-services; FAO. (2018). The State of the World's Forests 2018 - Forest pathways to sustainable development. Retrieved from FAO website: http://www.fao.org/3/I9535EN/ i9535en.pdf; Bebbington, A.J., Bebbington, D.H., Sauls, L.A., Rogan, J., Agrawal, S., Gamboa, C.,... Verdum, R. (2018). Resource extraction and infrastructure threaten forest cover and community rights. PNAS, 115(52), 13164-13173. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1812505115; Xiong, C. Beckermann, V., & Tan, R. (2018). Effects of Infrastructure on Land Use and Land Cover Change (LUCC): The Case of Hangzhou International Airport, China. Sustainability, 10,

1-18. doi:10.3390/su10062013

World Wildlife Fund. (n.d.). Deforestation and forest degradation. Retrieved from https://www.worldwildlife.
org/threats/deforestation-and-forest-degradation; Seidl,
R., Thom, D., Kautz, M., Martin-Benito, D., Peltoniemi, M.,
Vacchiano, G.,...and Reyer, C. (2017). Forest disturbances under climate change. Nature Climate Change, 7, 395-402;
van Lierop, P., Lindquist, E., Sathyapala, S., & Freancescini,
G. (2015). Global forest area disturbance from fire, insect, petss, diseases and severe weather events. Forest Ecology and Management, 352(7), 78-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
foreco.2015.06.010

80 Asner, G.P., Hughes, R.F., Vitousek, P.M., Knapp, D.E., Kennedy-Bowdoin, T., Boardman, J., ...Green, R.O. (2008). Invasive plants transform the three-dimensional structure of rainforests. *PNAS*, *105*(11), 4519-4523. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710811105

81 Pires, G. & Costa, M. (2013). Deforestation causes different subregional effects on the Amazon bioclimatic equilibrium. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 40(14), 3618-3623. https://doi.org/10.1002/grl.50570

82 Jantz, S.M., Barker, B., Brooks, T.M., Chini, L.P., Huang, Q., Moore, R.M.,... Hurtt, G.C. (2015). Future habitat loss and extinctions driven by land-use change in biodiversity hotspots under four scenarios of climate change mitigation. Conservation Biology, 29(4), 1122-1131. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12549; Bennett, A.F. & Saunder, D.A. (2010). Habitat fragmentation and landscape change. In Sodhi, N.S. & Ehrlich, P.R. (Eds.), *Conservation Biology for All* (88-106). OUP Oxford.

Andrews, T., Betts, R.A., Booth, B.B.B., Jones,
C.D., & Jones, G.S. (2016). Effective radiative forcing from
historical land use change. *Climate Dynamics*, *48*(11-12),
3489-3505. doi: 10.1007/s00382-016-3280-7; Hu, Y., Jia, G.,
Pohl, C., Zhang, X., & van Genderen, J. (2015). Assessing
surface albedo change and its induced radiation budget
under rapid urbanization with Landsat and GLASS data.

Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 123(3-4), 711-722.

Akbari, H. (2005). Energy Saving Potentials and Air Quality Benefits of Urban Heat Island Mitigation. Paper presented at First International Conference on Passive and LowEnergy Cooling for the Built Environment, Athens, Greece.

85 Fearnside, P. M., & Laurance, W. F. (2004). Tropical deforestation and greenhouse gas emissions. *Ecological Applications*, *14*(4), 982-986. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5225; Miles, L., & Kapos, V. (2008). Reducing greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation and forest degradation: global land-use implications. *Science*, *320*(5882), 1454-1455.

86 World Wildlife Fund. (n.d.). *Deforestation and forest degradation*. Retrieved from https://www.worldwildlife.org/threats/deforestation-and-forest-degradation

87 Ibid.

FAO. (2018). The State of the World's Forests 2018
 Forest pathways to sustainable development. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/3/19535EN/i9535en.pdf

89 Lawrence, D., & Vandecar, K. (2015). Effects of tropical deforestation on climate and agriculture. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(1), 27-36.

90 Ibid.

91 Galloway, J. N., Schlesinger, W.H., Clark, C.H., Grimm, N.B., Jackson, R.B., Law, B.E.,...and Martin, R. (2014). Biogeochemical Cycles. In Melilo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., and Yoke, G.W. (Eds.), *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*, U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 350-368. doi:10.7930/J0X63JT0.

92 Fowler, D., Coyle, M., Skiba, U., Sutton, M.A., Cape, N.J., Reis, S.,... Voss, M. (2013). The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the* *Royal Society B, 368*(1621), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2013.0164

93 Bernhard, A. (2010). The Nitrogen Cycle: Processes, Players, and Human Impact. *Nature Education Knowledge*, *3*(10), 25.

Galloway, J. N., Schlesinger, W.H., Clark, C.H.,
Grimm, N.B., Jackson, R.B., Law, B.E.,...and Martin, R. (2014).
Biogeochemical Cycles. In Melilo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., and
Yoke, G.W. (Eds.), *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*, U.S. Global
Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 350368. doi:10.7930/J0X63JT0.

95 Cordell, D., Drangert, J-O., & White, S. (2009). The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change*, *19*, 292-305. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.10.009; Leach, A.M., Galloway, J.N., Bleeker, A., Erisman, J.W., Kohn, R., & Kitzes, J. (2012). A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the environment. *Environmental Development*, *1*, 40-66. doi: 10.1016/j. envdev.2011.12.005

96 Leach, A.M., Galloway, J.N., Bleeker, A., Erisman, J.W., Kohn, R., & Kitzes, J. (2012). A nitrogen footprint model to help consumers understand their role in nitrogen losses to the environment. *Environmental Development*, 1, 40-66. doi: 10.1016/j.envdev.2011.12.005

97 Galloway, J. N., Schlesinger, W.H., Clark, C.H., Grimm, N.B., Jackson, R.B., Law, B.E.,...and Martin, R. (2014). Biogeochemical Cycles. In Melilo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., and Yoke, G.W. (Eds.), *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*, U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 350-368. doi:10.7930/J0X63JT0.

98 Griffs, T.J., Chen, Z., Baker, J.M., Wood, J.D., Millet, D.B., Lee, X., ...Turner, P.A. (2017). Nitrous oxide emissions are enhanced in a warmer and wetter world. *Proceedings*

of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 114(45), 12081-12085. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1704552114

99 Hastings, M. G., Jarvis, J.C., & Steig, E.J. (2009). Anthropogenic Impacts on Nitrogen Isotopes of Ice-Core Nitrate. *Science*, 324(5932), 1288. doi: 10.1126/ science.1170510

100 Erisman, J.W., Sutton, M.A., Galloway, J., Klimont, Z., & Winiwarter, W. (2008). How a century of ammonia synthesis changed the world. *Nature Geoscience*, 1(10), 636-639. doi: 10.1038/ngeo325

101 NOAA. *What is eutrophication*? Retrieved from https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/eutrophication.html

102 Bernhard, A. (2010). The Nitrogen Cycle: Processes, Players, and Human Impact. *Nature Education Knowledge*, *3*(10), 25; Chislock, M. F., Doster, E., Zitomer, R. A. & Wilson, A. E. (2013). Eutrophication: Causes, Consequences, and Controls in Aquatic Ecosystems. *Nature Education Knowledge*, *4*(4), 10.

103 Bernhard, A. (2010). The Nitrogen Cycle: Processes, Players, and Human Impact. *Nature Education Knowledge*, *3*(10), 25.

104 Erisman, J.W., Galloway, J.N., Seitzinger, S., Bleeker, A., Dise, N.B., Petrescu, A.M.R.,.. de Vries, W. (2013). Consequences of human modification of the global nitrogen cycle. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 368(1621), 1-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0116

105 Fowler, D., Coyle, M., Skiba, U., Sutton, M.A., Cape, N.J., Reis, S.,... Voss, M. (2013). The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 368*(1621), 2. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0164

106 Ravishankara, A.R., Daniel, J.S., & Portmann, R.W.(2009). Nitrous oxide (N2O): The Dominant Ozone-Depleting

Substance Emitted in the 21st Century. *Science*, 326(5949), 123-125. doi: 10.1126/science.1176985

107 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32; Erisman, J.W., Galloway, J.N., Seitzinger, S., Bleeker, A., Dise, N.B., Petrescu, A.M.R.,.. de Vries, W. (2013). Consequences of human modification of the global nitrogen cycle. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, *368*(1621), 1-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2013.0116

108 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. doi: 10.1126/ science.1259855

109 Allen, B. (2017). Atmospheric Aerosols: What Are They, and Why Are They So Important? NASA. Retrieved from https://www.nasa.gov/centers/langley/news/factsheets/ Aerosols.html

110 Tomasi, C. & Lupi, A. (2017). Primary and Secondary Sources of Atmospheric Aerosol. In Tomasi, C., Fuzzi, S., & Kokhanovsky, A. (Eds.) *Atmospheric Aerosols: Life Cycles and Effects on Air Quality and Climate* (1-86). Wiley & Co.

- 111 Ibid.
- 112 Ibid.
- 113 Ibid.

114 Bauer, S.E., Tsigaridis, K., & Miller, R. (2016). Significant atmospheric aerosol pollution caused by world food cultivation. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 43, 5394-5400. doi: 10.1002/2016GL068354

115 Sharma, A.R., Kharol, S.H., Badarinath, K.V.S., & Singh, D. (2010). Impact of agriculture crop residue burning

on atmospheric aerosol loading - a study over Punjab State, India. Annales Geophysicae, 28, 367-379; Funk, R., Reuter, H.I., Hoffman, C., Engel, W., & Ottle, D. (2008). Effect of moisture on fine dust emission from tillage operations on agricultural soils. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 33(12), 1851-1863. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.1737

116 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32.

117 Li, Z., Lau, W.K.M., Ramanathan, V., Wu, G., Ding, Y., Manjo, M.G., ...& Brasseur, G.P. (2016). Aerosol and Monsoon Climate Interactions over Asia. *Review of Geophysics, 54*. doi:10.1002/2015RG000500.

118 Allen, B. (2017). Atmospheric Aerosols: What Are They, and Why Are They So Important? NASA. Retrieved from https://www.nasa.gov/centers/langley/news/factsheets/ Aerosols.html

119 Ibid.

120 Storelvmo, T., Leirvik, T., Lohmann, U., Phillips, P.C.B., & Wild, M. (2016). Disentangling greenhouse warming and aerosol cooling to reveal Earth's climate sensitivity. *Nature Geoscience*, *9*, 286-289.

121 Langematz, U. (2019). Stratospheric ozone: down and up through the anthropocene. *ChemTexts*, *5*(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40828-019-0082-7

122 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32.

123 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32; Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. DOI: 10.1126/science.1259855

124 World Meteorological Organization [WMO]. (2018). Scientific Assessment of Ozone Depletion: Global Ozone Research and Monitoring Project (Report No. 58). Geneva, Switzerland.

Ravishankara, A.R., Daniel, J.S., & Portmann, R.W.
(2009). Nitrous oxide (N2O): The Dominant Ozone-Depleting
Substance Emitted in the 21st Century. *Science*, *326*(5949),
123-125. doi: 10.1126/science.1176985

126 Ussiri D., Lal R. (2013). *Global Sources of Nitrous* Oxide. In: Soil Emission of Nitrous Oxide and its Mitigation. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

127 Morrisette, Peter M. (1989). The Evolution of Policy Responses to Stratospheric Ozone Depletion. *Natural Resources Journal 29*(3): 793-820; Sivasakthivel, T. & Reddy. K.K.S.K. (2011). Ozone Layer Depletion and Its Effects: A Review. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development 2*(1): 30-37.

128 Suchar, V. A., & Robberecht, R. (2016). Integration and scaling of UVB radiation effects on plants: from molecular interactions to whole plant responses. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(14), 4866-4884.

129 Sivasakthivel, T. and Reddy, K.K.S.K. (2011). Ozone Layer Depletion and Its Effects: A Review. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development 2*(1): 30-37.

130 Gruber, N., Clement, D., Carter, B.R., Feely, R.A., van Heuven, S., Hoppema, M., ...Wanninkof, R. (2019). The oceanic sink for anthropogenic CO2 from 1994 to 2007. *Science*, *363*(6432), 1193-1199. doi: 10.1126/science. aau5153

131 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32.

132 Ibid, 10.

133 Olivier, J.G.S., Van Aardenne, J.A., Dentener, F.J., Pagliari, V., Ganzeveld, L.N., Peters, J.A.H.W. (2005). Recent trends in global greenhouse gas emissions:regional trends 1970–2000 and spatial distribution of key sources in 2000, *Environmental Sciences*, *2*(2-3), 81-99, DOI: 10.1080/15693430500400345

134 Chislock, M. F., Doster, E., Zitomer, R. A. & Wilson, A. E. (2013). Eutrophication: Causes, Consequences, and Controls in Aquatic Ecosystems. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 4(4), 10.

135 Barry, J. P., Widdicombe, S., & Hall-Spencer, J. M. (2011). Effects of ocean acidification on marine biodiversity and ecosystem function. *Ocean Acidification*, 192-209.

136 Ibid.

137 United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). (2019). *The United Nations world water development report 2019: leaving no one behind*. Retrieved from the UNESCO website: https://unesdoc. unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000367306

138 Molden, D., Oweis, T.Y., Pasquale, S., Kijne, J.W., Hanjira, M.A., Bindraban, P.S.,...& Zwart, S. (2007). Pathways for increasing agricultural water productivity. In Molden, David (Ed.), Water for food, water for life: a Comprehensive Assessment of Water Management in Agriculture (pp.279-310). London, UK: Earthscan.

139 FAO. (2018). *Progress on level of water stress*. Retrieved from https://www.unwater.org/publications/ progress-on-level-of-water-stress-642/ 140 FAO. (2016). AQUASTAT database. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/nr/water/aquastat/data/query/index. html?lang=en

141 FAO. (2018). The State of the World's Forests 2018 - Forest pathways to sustainable development. Retrieved from: http://www.fao.org/3/I9535EN/i9535en.pdf; World Wildlife Fund. (n.d.). Deforestation and forest degradation. Retrieved from https://www.worldwildlife.org/threats/ deforestation-and-forest-degradation

Pimentel, D., Berger, B., Filiberto, D., Newton,
M., Wolfe, B., Karabinakis, E., ...Nandgopal, S. (2004). *BioScience*, 54(10), 909-918. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0909:WRAAEI]2.0.CO;2

143 Carpenter, S.R., Stanley, E.H., & Vander Zanden, M.J. (2011). State of the World's Freshwater Ecosystems: Physical, Chemical, and Biological Changes. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 36*, 75-99. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-environ-021810-094524

144 Ibid.

145 Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D.J., Leveque, C., ...Sullivan, C.A. (2007). Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. *Biological Reviews*, *81*(2), 163-182. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793105006950

Abell, R., Vigerstol, K., Higgins, J., Kang, S., Karres, N., Lehner, B., ...Chapin E. (2019). Freshwater biodiversity conservation through source water protection: Quantifying the potential and addressing the challenges. *Aquatic Conservation*, *29*(7), 1022-1038. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3091

147 FAO. (2016). *AQUASTAT database*. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/nr/water/aquastat/data/query/index. html?lang=en

148 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell,

S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 7. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855

149 Ibid.

150 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32.

151 United Nations Environment Programme [UNEP]. (2013). *Global Chemicals Outlook 2012: Towards Sound Management of Chemicals*. Retrieved from: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/1966Global%20Chemical.pdf

152 Pease, C. M. (2011). A tale of pesticides then and now. *Environmental Forum, 28*(18).

153 Steffan, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennet, E.M., ...Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223), 1-10. DOI: 10.1126/ science.1259855

154 United Nations Environment Programme [UNEP]. (2013). Global Chemicals Outlook 2012: Towards Sound Management of Chemicals. Retrieved from: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/1966Global%20Chemical.pdf

155 Rockström, J., Steffen, W. L., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin III, F. S., Lambin, E., ... & Nykvist, B. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2), 1-32.

156 United Nations Environment Programme [UNEP]. (2013). *Global Chemicals Outlook 2012: Towards Sound Management of Chemicals*. Retrieved from: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/1966Global%20Chemical.pdf 157 Ibid.

158 Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services [IPBES]. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Retrieved from https://www.ipbes. net/global-assessment-report-biodiversity-ecosystemservices

159 World Meteorological Organization [WMO]. (2018). Scientific Assessment of Ozone Depletion: Global Ozone Research and Monitoring Project (Report No. 58). Geneva, Switzerland.

160 Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services [IPBES]. (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Retrieved from https://www.ipbes. net/global-assessment-report-biodiversity-ecosystemservices

161 Chislock, M. F., Doster, E., Zitomer, R. A. & Wilson, A. E. (2013). Eutrophication: Causes, Consequences, and Controls in Aquatic Ecosystems. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 4(4), 10.

162 Walsh, J., Wuebbles, D., Hayhoe, K., Kossin, J., Kunkel, K., Stephens, G., ... & Somerville, R. (2014). Our Changing Climate. In Melillo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., & Yohe, G.W. (Eds.), *Climate Change Impacts int he United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington D.C., USA, pp.19-67, doi:10.7930/J0KW5CXT.

163 Oberthür, S., & Ott, H. (1999). The Kyoto Protocol: International climate policy for the 21st century. Berlin: Springer. 164 Olivier, J.G.S., Van Aardenne, J.A., Dentener, F.J., Pagliari, V., Ganzeveld, L.N., Peters, J.A.H.W. (2005). Recent trends in global greenhouse gas emissions:regional trends 1970–2000 and spatial distribution of key sources in 2000, *Environmental Sciences*, 2(2-3), 81-99, doi: 10.1080/15693430500400345; Center for Climate and Energy Solutions. (n.d.). *Global Emissions*. Retrieved from https://www.c2es.org/content/international-emissions/

165 Morrisette, Peter M. (1989). The Evolution of Policy Responses to Stratospheric Ozone Depletion. *Natural Resources Journal 29*(3): 793-820; Sivasakthivel, T. and K.K. Siva Kumar Reddy. (2011). Ozone Layer Depletion and Its Effects: A Review. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development 2*(1): 30-37.

166 Shindell, D. (2013). *Radiative forcing in the AR5*, *Presentation*. Retrieved from http://climate.envsci.rutgers. edu/climdyn2013/IPCC/IPCC_WGI12-RadiativeForcing.pdf

167 United States Global Change Research Program [USGCRP]. (2017). *Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I.* Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program.

168 Capmourteres, V., Shaw, S., Miedema, L., & Anand, M. (2019). A complex system framework for the sustainability doughnut. *People and Nature*, 1-10. https:// doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10048; Raworth, K. (2012). A Safe and Just Space for Humanity: Can we live within the doughnut. Oxfam Policy and Practice: *Climate Change and Resilience*, 8(1), 1-26.

Appendices

Appendix A: Detailed Information on the Planetary Boundaries

This table provides in-depth information about each of the nine key systems featured in the Planetary Boundary framework, and is taken from Steffan et al. (2015).

Climate Change

Control Variables

(a) Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration, ppm (b) Energy imbalance at top-of-atmosphere, W m^{-2}

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

(a) 350 ppm carbon dioxide (350-450 ppm) (b) +1.0 W m⁻² (+1.0-1.5 W m⁻²)

Current value of control variable

(a) 398.5 ppm carbon dioxide (b) 2.3 W m⁻² (1.1-3.3 W m⁻²)

Biosphere Integrity

Control Variables

(a) Genetic diversity: Extinction rate

(b) Functional diversity: Biodiversity Intactness Index (BII)

*Note: These are interim control variables until more appropriate ones are developed.

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

(a) <10 E/MSY (10-100 E/MSY) but with an aspirational goal of ca. 1 E/MSY (the background rate of extinction loss). E/MSY = extinctions per million species-years.
(b) Maintain BI at 90% (90-30%) or above, assessed geographically by biomes/large regional areas (e.g. southern Africa), major marine ecosystems (e.g., coral reefs) or by large functional groups.

Current value of control variable

(a) 100-1000 E/MSY(b) 84%, applied to southern African only

Land-System Change

Control Variables

(a) Global: Area of forested land as % of original forest cover. (b) Biome: Area of forested land as % of potential forest

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

(a) 75% (75-54%) Value are weighted average of the three individual biome boundaries and their uncertainty zones. (b) Tropical: 85% (85-60%); Temperate: 50% (50-30%); Boreal: 85% (85-60%)

Current value of control variable

(a) 62% (b) n/a

Biogeochemical Flows

Control Variables

(a) P Global: P flow from freshwater systems into the ocean

(b) P Regional: P flow from fertilizers to erodible soils

(c) N Global: Industrial and intentional biological fixation of N

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty) (a) 11 Tg yr⁻¹ (11-100 Tg yr⁻¹) (b) 6.2 Tg yr⁻¹ mined and applied to erodible (agricultural soils) (6.2-11.2 Tg yr⁻¹). Boundary is a global average but regional distribution is critical for impacts. (c) 62 Tg yr⁻¹ (62-82 Tg yr⁻¹). Boundary acts as a global 'valve' limiting introduction of new reactive N to Earth System, but regional distribution of fertilizer N is critical for impacts.

Current value of control variable

(a) -22 Tg yr⁻¹ (b) -14 Tg yr⁻¹ (c) -150 Tq yr⁻¹

Atmospheric Aerosol Loading

Control Variables

(a) Global: Aerosol Optical Depth (AOD), but much regional variation(b) Regional: AOD as a seasonal average over a region. South Asian Monsoon used as a case study.

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

(a) n/a
(b) (South Asian Monsoon as a case study): anthropogenic total (absorbing and scattering) AOD over Indian subcontinent of 0.25 (0.25-0.50); absorbing (warming) AOD less than 10% of total AOD

Current value of control variable

(a) n/a (b) 0.30 AOD, over South Asian region

Stratospheric Ozone Depletion

Control Variables Stratospheric ozone concentration, DU

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

<5% reduction from pre-industrial level of 290 DU (5-10%), assessed by latitute

Current value of control variable

Only transgressed over Antarctica in Austral spring (~200 DU)

Ocean Acidification

Control Variables

Carbonate ion concentration, average global surface ocean saturation state with respect to aragonite

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

Greater than or equal to 80% of the pre-industrial aragonite saturation state of mean surface ocean, including natural diel and seasonal variability (greater than or equal to 80-70%)

Current value of control variable

~84% of the pre-industrial aragonite saturation state

Freshwater Use

Control Variables

(a) Global: Maximum amount of consumptive blue water use $(km^3 yr^{-1})$ (b) Basin: Blue water withdrawal as % of mean monthly river flow

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty) (a) 4,000 km³ yr⁻¹ (4000-6000 km³ yr⁻¹)

(b) Maximum monthly withdrawal as a percentage of mean monthly river flow. For low-flow months: 25% (25-55%); for intermediate-flow months: 30% (30-60%); for high-flow months: 55% (55-85%)

Current value of control variable

(a)~2,600 km³ yr⁻¹ (b) n/a

Novel Entities

Control Variables No control variable currently defined

Planetary boundary (zone of uncertainty)

No boundary currently identified, but see boundary for stratospheric ozone for an example of a boundary related to a novel entity (CFCs)

Appendix B: Visualization Links and Instructions

Link to Visualization 1 - Boundary Influences: Link to Visualization 2 - Boundary Interactions: http://bit.ly/38gD6Nk http://bit.ly/2YghvzX

Both visualizations were made in the systems-mapping program Kumu. The visualizations are designed for the user to be able to interact with them to find learn more or to sort information by each key system in the Planetary Boundaries framework. The visualizations are viewable in the following browsers: Chrome, Safari, Firefox, Internet Explorer 11, and Microsoft Edge. In the visualizations, elements refer to the circle nodes, while connections refer to the arrows between each element.

Showcasing

By hovering over an element, the user can showcase it by fading all other elements and only displaying the elements and connections that are directly neighbouring the selected element.

Focusing

If an element is clicked on, the user can choose to "focus" on that element by clicking the Focus button near the middle of the right hand side of the display. This highlights only the elements that are a first-level connection with the selected element. By clicking the arrows above and below the focus button, the user can zoom in or out on this element to view additional levels of connections, such as secondary and tertiary connections.

Sorting

In both visualizations, the user can click the name of a boundary located at the bottom or top of the map to show only the connections and elements that play a role in the operation of that boundary's processes. All elements and connections not related to the selected boundary will move to the outside of the screen. Multiple boundaries can be selected at once.

Accompanying Items

Visualization 1 - Boundary Influences: The Kumu map demonstrating the network of boundary influences. December 2019. http://bit.ly/38gD6Nk

Visualization 2 - Boundary Interactions: The Kumu map demonstrating the interactions between the nine planetary boundaries. December 2019. http://bit.ly/2YghvzX

